
 

 
 
 

DYDD MERCHER, 2 RHAGFYR 2020 
 
 

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R CYNGOR SIR 
 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD 
RHITHWIR O’R CYNGOR SIR A GYNHELIR AM 10.00 YB, DYDD 
MERCHER, 9FED RHAGFYR, 2020 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 
 

 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 
Swyddog Democrataidd: Kevin Thomas 

Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224027 

E-bost: kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk 

SYLWCH: 
Os oes angen cyfieithu ar y pryd o’r Gymraeg i’r Saesneg arnoch yn ystod y cyfarfod, 
ffoniwch: 0330 336 4321 cyfrin-gôd 77174084#  
(Am daliadau galwad cysylltwch â'ch darparwr gwasanaeth.) 

 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 

 

A G E N D A   
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL.   

3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD.   

4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNOD CYFARFOD Y 
CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 11 TACHWEDD 2020  

5 - 8 

5. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL O RAN Y 
MATERION CANLYNOL:-  

 

5 .1 GORCHMYNION DATBLYGU LLEOL CANOL TREF 
CAERFYRDDIN A CHANOL TREF RHYDAMAN 

9 - 146 

6. DERBYN ADRODDIADAU CYFARFODYDD Y BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALIWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU 
CANLYNOL:-  

 

6 .1 2AIL TACHWEDD 2020 147 - 150 

6 .2 16EG TACHWEDD 2020 151 - 154 

6 .3 23AIN TACHWEDD 2020 155 - 156 

7. YSTYRIED Y RHYBUDDION O GYNNIG CANLYNOL:-   

7 .1 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN Y 
CYNGHORYDD LOUVAIN ROBERTS 

  

 Mae tân gwyllt yn cael ei ddefnyddio gan bobl drwy gydol y flwyddyn, 
i nodi gwahanol ddigwyddiadau. 
Er ei fod yn rhoi llawer o fwynhad i bobl, mae'n gallu achosi cryn 
dipyn o ofn i bobl eraill ac anifeiliaid hefyd. 
Mae’r anifeiliaid yr effeithir arnynt nid yn unig yn dioddef trallod 
seicolegol ond mae hyn hefyd yn gallu achosi iddynt hunan-niweidio. 
 
Galwaf felly ar Gyngor Sir Caerfyrddin i'w gwneud yn ofynnol i'r holl 
arddangosfeydd Tân Gwyllt Cyhoeddus o fewn ffiniau Awdurdodau 
Lleol gael eu hysbysebu cyn y digwyddiad, gan ganiatáu i drigolion 
gymryd y rhagofalon angenrheidiol o ran lles eu hanifeiliaid a lles 
pobl agored i niwed.  
 
Mynd ati i hyrwyddo Ymgyrch Ymwybyddiaeth Gyhoeddus am effaith 
tân gwyllt ar les anifeiliaid a phobl agored i niwed.  Gan gynnwys y 
rhagofalon y gellir eu rhoi ar waith i liniaru'r risgiau. 
 

Ysgrifennu at Lywodraeth y DU/Cymru, a’u hannog i gyflwyno 
Deddfwriaeth i gyfyngu ar uchafswm lefel sŵn y tân gwyllt i 90 dB o 
ran y rhai sy'n cael eu gwerthu i'r cyhoedd ar gyfer arddangosfeydd 
preifat. 
 

Annog cyflenwyr tân gwyllt yn lleol i stocio 'fersiwn mwy tawel' o'r tân 

 



 

gwyllt a ddefnyddir ar gyfer arddangosfeydd cyhoeddus ac ati 

 

8. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW).  

 

9. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW):-  

 

10. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN)   

10 .1 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 5ED TACHWEDD 2020  

10 .2 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU AC ADFYWIO - 13EG 
TACHWEDD 2020 

 

10 .3 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 17FED TACHWEDD 2020  

10 .4 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU GOFAL CYMDEITHASOL AC 
IECHYD - 19 TACHWEDD 2020 

 

10 .5 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU DIOGELU'R CYHOEDD A'R  
AMGYLCHEDD - 24AIN TACHWEDD 2020 

 

 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

CYNGOR SIR 
 

DYDD MERCHER, 11 TACHWEDD 2020  
 

YN BRESENNOL: Cynghorydd  I.W. Davies (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:- 
S.M. Allen L.R. Bowen K.V. Broom C.A. Campbell 
J.M. Charles D.M. Cundy S.A. Curry C.A. Davies 
W.R.A. Davies T.A.J. Davies G. Davies H.L. Davies 
I.W. Davies J.A. Davies K.Davies S.L. Davies 
E. Dole P.M. Edwards D.C. Evans H.A.L. Evans 
W.T. Evans A.L. Fox S.J.G. Gilasbey C.J. Harris 
P. Hughes-Griffiths A.D. Harries T.M. Higgins J.K. Howell 
P.M. Hughes A. James J.D. James R. James 
D.M. Jenkins G.H. John C. Jones B.W. Jones 
D. Jones G.R. Jones A. Lenny M.J.A. Lewis 
K. Lloyd K. Madge S. Matthews A.S.J. McPherson 
E. Morgan A.G. Morgan D. Nicholas B.D.J. Phillips 
J.S. Phillips D. Price J.G. Prosser E.M.J.G. Schiavone 
H.B. Shepardson L.M. Stephens D. Thomas E.G. Thomas 
G.B. Thomas G. Thomas J. Tremlett A.Vaughan Owen 
D.T. Williams D.E. Williams J.E. Williams  
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:- 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr; 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol; 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau; 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant; 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd; 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith; 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad); 
G. Jones, Rheolwr Prosiect Seilwaith Digidol; 
J. Hawker, Swyddog Cymorth Digidol; 
G. Morgan, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
E. Evans, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
M. Evans Thomas, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
R. Lloyd, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd; 
C.J. Warwick, Peiriannydd Cymorth Digidol; 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
 
Rhith-Gyfarfod: 10.00 yb  - 11.20 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr J.S. Edmunds, 
L.D. Evans, H.I. Jones, T.J. Jones a B.A.L. Roberts. 
 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  4



 

 
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 

Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei gydymdeimlad diffuant ar ran yr Aelodau Etholedig 
a'r Uwch-swyddogion i'r Cynghorydd Ann Davies a'i theulu yn dilyn 
marwolaeth ei mam-yng-nghyfraith ar ddiwedd mis Hydref;  

 

 Estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei gydymdeimlad diffuant ar ran yr Aelodau Etholedig 
a'r Uwch-swyddogion i deulu'r cyn-Gynghorydd Lynne Davies. Bu Lynne yn 
aelod o Gyngor Sir Caerfyrddin tan 1999, a bu'n gwasanaethu ward 
Penygroes;  

 

 Dywedodd y Cadeirydd ei fod wedi cael y pleser o gynrychioli'r Awdurdod 
ddydd Sul yng Ngwasanaeth Dydd y Cofio yn Neuadd y Dref, Llanelli. 
Ychwanegodd fod y digwyddiadau blynyddol hyn yn bwysig i ni gofio'r rhai a 
roddodd eu bywydau ym mhob rhyfel, ac er y cynhaliwyd y gwasanaeth ar 
raddfa lawer llai, bu'n anrhydedd bod yn bresennol ar ran y Cyngor.   

 

 Atgoffodd y Cadeirydd y Cyngor o nodau Ymgyrch y Rhuban Gwyn, a 
fyddai'n cael ei chydnabod ar 25 Tachwedd 2020, ac anogodd aelodau i 
arwyddo'r rhuban a gwneud yr addewid "i beidio byth â chyflawni, esgusodi 
nac aros yn dawel am drais dynion yn erbyn menywod". Byddai'r Cyngor yn 
codi baner y Rhuban Gwyn yn Neuadd y Sir ac yn Neuadd y Dref, Llanelli a 
Neuadd y Dref, Rhydaman.   

 Estynnodd y Cadeirydd ei longyfarchiadau i'r Cynghorydd Amanda Fox a 
enillodd wobr gymunedol Peter Rees fel cydnabyddiaeth o'i hymdrechion i 
helpu cymuned Porth Tywyn yn ystod Pandemig Covid 19;  

 

 Diolchodd y Cynghorydd Dot Jones i'r Frigâd Dân, y Gwasanaeth 
Ambiwlans, yr Heddlu a'r gymuned leol am eu cymorth ar ôl i dŷ yn y Tymbl 
gael ei daro gan fellten, gan ddinistrio y tu mewn i'r eiddo. Roedd Dŵr Cymru 
a Western Power hefyd wedi gweithio'n gyflym i adfer cyfleustodau yr 
effeithiwyd arnynt. Ychwanegodd fod preswylwyr yr eiddo wedi rhoi'r arian a 
godwyd yn lleol o ganlyniad i'r digwyddiad i'r orsaf Dân ac Ambiwlans leol a 
oedd wedi cytuno yn dilyn hynny i brynu diffibriliwr ar gyfer yr ardal. 
Diolchodd y Cynghorydd Jones hefyd i swyddogion adain Tai y Cyngor am 
eu cymorth.  

 

 Bu i'r Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, ar ran y Cynghorydd Liam Bowen, longyfarch 
Jonny Clayton, un o weithwyr y cyngor ac un o drigolion Pontyberem, ar ei 
lwyddiant diweddar yn ennill Cwpan y Byd Dartiau;  

 

 Gofynnodd y Cynghorydd Mair Stephens i'r Aelodau a allent gefnogi'r apêl 
teganau flynyddol fel bod plant llai ffodus yn gallu mwynhau agor anrhegion 
fore Nadolig;  

 

 Dymunodd y Cadeirydd ben-blwydd hapus i Mrs. Nan Percival, Glan yr 
Ystrad, Glanyfferi yn 100 oed;  

Tudalen 6



 

 
4. COFNODION Y CYNGOR - 22 HYDREF 2020 

 
PENDERFYNWYD lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 22 
Hydref, 2020 yn gofnod cywir yn amodol ar gynnwys enw'r Cynghorydd D.E. 
Williams yn y rhestr o'r rheiny oedd yn bresennol a chynnwys enw'r 
Cynghorydd P.M Hughes o dan 'Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb'.  
 

5. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL O RAN Y MATERION 
CANLYNOL 
 
5.1. PROSIECT SEILWAITH DIGIDOL, BARGEN DDINESIG BAE 

ABERTAWE 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Cyngor fod y Bwrdd Gweithredol, yn y cyfarfod ar 19 Hydref 
2020 (gweler cofnod 4), wedi rhoi ystyriaeth i'r Achos Busnes arfaethedig, a'r 
buddsoddiad dilynol, ar gyfer Prosiect Seilwaith Digidol Bargen Ddinesig Bae 
Abertawe yr oedd Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin yn Awdurdod arweiniol dynodedig ar ei 
gyfer. Byddai'r Prosiect yn helpu i ddarparu'r seilwaith sylfaenol hanfodol sydd ei 
angen i gefnogi ac ategu Strategaeth Ddigidol ehangach y rhanbarth ac yn helpu i 
sicrhau bod gan y rhanbarth Seilwaith Digidol sydd wedi'i ddiogelu ar gyfer y 
dyfodol a fydd yn darparu'r sylfeini trawsnewidiol ar gyfer ymyriadau'r Fargen 
Ddinesig a thwf rhanbarthol ehangach. 
Roedd yr Aelodau'n gwbl gefnogol o'r cynigion a amlinellwyd yn yr adroddiad a 
dywedwyd wrthynt y gellid cael gwybodaeth am y sefyllfa band eang bresennol ym 
mhob un o'u wardiau gan swyddogion os oeddent yn dymuno.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL fabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y 
Bwrdd Gweithredol: 
 

“4. cymeradwyo'r Achos Busnes arfaethedig a'r buddsoddiad dilynol mewn 
Seilwaith Digidol ar draws Dinas-ranbarth Bae Abertawe;  

4.2 rhoi pwerau dirprwyedig i Uwch-berchennog Cyfrifol y prosiect i wneud 
mân newidiadau i'r achos busnes yn ôl yr angen er mwyn cael 
cymeradwyaeth ar lefel llywodraeth leol, rhanbarthol a chenedlaethol.” 

 

 Gwahoddodd y Cadeirydd yr Arweinydd i annerch y Cyngor gyda'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am sefyllfa Covid-19 yn y Sir. Dywedodd y 
Cynghorydd Dole ei fod yn croesawu'r newyddion bod cyfradd yr haint yn 
gostwng yn araf a bod y Llywodraeth wedi ymestyn y cynllun ffyrlo i fis 
Mawrth 2021. Dywedwyd wrth y Cyngor bod grantiau cymorth busnes yn 
parhau i gael eu darparu yn Sir Gaerfyrddin a bod 4086 o daliadau wedi'u 
gwneud hyd yma, sef cyfanswm o dros £46m. Hefyd, derbyniwyd dros 2000 
o geisiadau am grant ar gyfer Grant Ardrethi Annomestig y Cyfyngiadau 
Symud a dyfarnwyd £1.7m. Ychwanegodd, er y croesawir y newyddion 
diweddar am ddarganfod brechlyn posibl, ei fod yn dal i annog pobl i fod yn 
ofalus fel nad oedd yr holl waith caled a'r aberth dros yr wythnosau diwethaf 
yn ofer. Canmolodd waith aelodau a staff y Cyngor wrth helpu i gadw 
trigolion Sir Gaerfyrddin mor ddiogel â phosibl;  
 

 Dywedodd y Cadeirydd y byddai'n galw ar y Cyngor i gael dwy funud o 

dawelwch am 11.00am i gofio'r rhai a oedd wedi colli eu bywyd mewn rhyfel.  

Tudalen 7



 

 
[NODER: Yn y rhan hon o'r cyfarfod, sef 11.00 a.m., cynhaliwyd dwy funud o 
dawelwch i gofio'r rhai a oedd wedi colli eu bywydau mewn rhyfel.] 
 

6. DERBYN ADRODDIADAU CYFARFODYDD Y BWRDD GWEITHREDOL A 
GYNHALIWYD AR Y 19EG HYDREF 2020 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 19 Hydref 2020. 
 

7. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

8. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan aelodau. 
 

9. NEWIDIADAU I AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU 
Yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn Gorfforaethol 2(2)(n), roedd yr enwebiadau canlynol 
wedi dod i law gan y Grŵp Llafur a: 
 
PHENDERFYNWYD:- 
 
9.1 penodi'r Cynghorydd Suzy Curry yn lle'r Cynghorydd Fozia Akhtar ar y 

Pwyllgor Trwyddedu; 
 
9.2    penodi'r Cynghorydd Rob James yn lle'r Cynghorydd Suzy Curry ar 

Bwyllgor y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd.  
 

10. PENODI CADEIRYDD Y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD 
Gan fod y Cynghorydd Rob James wedi cymryd lle'r Cynghorydd Suzy Curry ar 
Bwyllgor y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd [gweler cofnod 9.1 uchod] gofynnwyd i'r 
Cyngor ystyried penodi Cadeirydd newydd ar gyfer y Pwyllgor hwnnw. Yn unol â 
gofyniad y Cyfansoddiad, gofynnwyd i Arweinwyr gyflwyno eu henwebeion. Yr 
unig enw a gyflwynwyd oedd y Cynghorydd Rob James.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD penodi'r Cynghorydd Rob James yn Gadeirydd Pwyllgor y 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
 

11. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod y cofnodion a amlinellir ar agenda 11.1 – 11.4 ar gael 
i'w gweld ar wefan y Cyngor. 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 8



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

CYNGOR SIR 

9 RHAGFYR 2020 

 GORCHMYNION DATBLYGU LLEOL 

Canol Tref Caerfyrddin a Chanol Tref Rhydaman 

Argymhellion y Bwrdd Gweithredol: 

 Ystyried yr adroddiad canlynol a chwmpas y Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol arfaethedig a'i 
gymeradwyo i gael ei ystyried drwy'r broses adrodd ddemocrataidd.  

 Paratoi'r Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol ar gyfer y trefi perthnasol gan gynnwys cynnal 
ymgynghoriadau anffurfiol fel y bo'n briodol a llunio adroddiad pellach ynghylch eu 
cwmpas, eu cynnwys a'u hyd a lled daearyddol arfaethedig.  

 Cymeradwyo cyhoeddi'r Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol terfynol ar gyfer ymgynghoriad 
cyhoeddus am 6 wythnos o leiaf.  

 Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion baratoi tystiolaeth i gefnogi'r Gorchymyn 
Datblygu Lleol.  

 Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion wneud mân newidiadau golygyddol a ffeithiol. 

 Diwygio'r cynllun ar gyfer Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol Canol Tref Caerfyrddin i gynnwys 
Heol Awst, Caerfyrddin yn ei chyfanrwydd.  

Y Rhesymau:  

 Nodi cwmpas Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol a’u defnydd posibl o ran canol 
trefi Caerfyrddin a Rhydaman. 

 Adlewyrchu'r amcanion adfywio corfforaethol, a'r cynllun adfer o ran Covid-19 

 Sicrhau bod y materion ynghylch bywiogrwydd a hyfywedd parhaus yn y Canol Trefi yn 
cael eu hystyried yn briodol, a defnyddio darpariaethau Polisi Cynllunio cenedlaethol 
yn hyn o beth. 

Angen ymgynghori â’r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol - Oes – Pwyllgor Craffu Cymunedau - 
dyddiad i'w gadarnhau 

Angen i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad         Oes 

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                           OES 

YR AELOD O'R BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-  Y 
Cynghorydd L Mair Stephens  

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth 
Yr Amgylchedd 
 
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 
Llinos Quelch 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Ian Llewelyn 

 
 
Swyddi: 
 
Pennaeth Cynllunio 
 
Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio 

Rhifau ffôn: 01267 228659 
01267 228816 
 
Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
LQuelch@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 9

Eitem Rhif  5.1

mailto:LQuelch@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:IRLlewelyn@sirgar.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Local Development Orders for Carmarthen Town Centre and 
Ammanford Town Centre (LDOs)  

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The report seeks to consider the potential role that LDOs may play as part of broader 
regeneration proposals within a town centre context particularly in relation to Carmarthen and 
Ammanford supporting the vibrant places initiative.  

 
1.2 The report will seek to consider the potential role that LDOs may play a part in ensuring 
Carmarthenshire’s Town Centres are resilient to the economic effects of COVID-19 with due 
regard to the Council’s Corporate Recovery Plan and the WG Planning guidance ‘Building 
better Places’. 

 

2. Local Development Orders 
 

What is an LDO? 
2.1 A Local Development Order (LDO) is made by Local Planning Authority (LPA) and grants 
planning permission for the type of development specified within the LDO, and within a 
defined spatial area.  It offers an LPA the opportunity to streamline the planning process by 
removing the need for developers/applicants to make a planning application to the LPA.  This 
can allow an LPA to act proactively in response to locally specific circumstances within their 
area.  As stated above, it should relate to a geographical area and should reflect the focused 
purpose of the LDO, and the nature of its intended outcomes.  An LDO may also be 
permanent or time limited depending on their objective, in this respect a time limited LDO 
provides for increased flexibility in fast changing and developing areas allowing for easy 
revision and updating, or to deliver a set objective over a fixed timescale.  
 
2.2 Certain types of development as set out within the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (PDO) are already permitted without the need for 
planning permission. The PDO grants a general permission for various types of relatively 
small scale and normally non contentious development without the need to make a planning 
application.  LDOs can therefore be seen as an extension of permitted development but 
decided upon locally in response to specific local circumstances.  
 
2.3 For information an LPA can revoke an LDO at any time. Where it is proposed to modify a 
Local Development Order, re-consultation may be required.   
 
2.4 Appendix 1 provides further information in respect of the Legislative and Policy 
Framework and outlines some of the core considerations and limitations in respect of an LDO.  
 
LDO in a Retail Context 
2.5 The Welsh Government in Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 
Resilient and Brighter Futures - Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery clearly identified the 
impact of the Covid-19 lockdown on our retail and commercial centres.  Town Centres largely 

Tudalen 10



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

became deserted except for those people shopping for essential items with the comparison 
retail sector notably impacted. In this respect supermarkets and convenience retailers 
became the few shops still trading, all of this at a time when components of the retail sector 
and certain town centres were already struggling.  

2.6 Building Better Places identifies that: “The economic consequences have meant that 
many retailers are struggling financially, and this will lead to higher vacancy rates in all of our 
commercial centres. Online competition to our town centre retailers was strong before the 
crisis; this situation will become more apparent as more retailers increase their online 
presence and more people have become used to doing the majority of their non-essential 
shopping online.”   

2.7 There is a recognition that retail and commercial centres are hubs of social and economic 
activity and that their function extends beyond retail providing a focal point for a diverse range 
of services and cultural activities/functions.  These functions are often equally important in 
supporting the needs of local communities.  

2.8 The WG in recognising the central role of retail and commercial centres state that they 
“should become places where a variety of retail, employment, commercial, community, 
leisure, health and public sector uses come together in a hub of activity to make them viable 
as go-to destinations once more. Flexible, local co-working spaces could also be a crucial 
new element to increase space to work. Residential uses are also key to the vitality of 
centres, provided that they do not curtail the commercial activities which take place and 
soundscapes are considered.”  

2.9 Indeed, as the challenges to respond to the impact of Covid-19 becomes clear and as 
town centres reshape themselves, this would suggest that traditional retailing uses will not be 
as prevalent and the demand for new retail space will lessen for the foreseeable future.   

2.10 Consequently, the role of primary retail areas will need to be reviewed in light of Covid-
19, and this must be realistic recognising that retail occupiers will return in the way prior to the 
pandemic.  This will require a review and reassessment of policies emerging within the 
Revised LDP.   

2.11 It is however noted that whilst the Revised LDP is under preparation any proposals will 
need to be considered against the provisions of the current adopted LDP.  In this respect 
there is a clear need to understand and respond to the impacts of Covid-19 on the future of 
our town centres in advance of the adoption of the Revised LDP.   

2.12 This report seeks to address this interim position through the consideration and 
designation of LDO’s for Ammanford and Carmarthen Town Centres.  LDOs can contribute to 
local economic development and regeneration, helping make places more attractive and 
competitive. In town centres, LDOs can help address the problem of vacant properties to 
achieve more viable and vibrant centres. They can specify what is or is not an acceptable 
development or use or impose limitations to exclude certain developments within a use class.  

2.13 It should be noted that an LDO for Llanelli Town Centre was adopted in February 2019 
and remains in operation.    

Tudalen 11



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

2.14 An LDO can contribute to local economic development and regeneration, helping make 
places more attractive and competitive. They simplify the planning process by removing the 
need for planning applications, allowing developers to progress with more speed and certainty 
whilst reducing costs. In town centres, LDOs can help address the problem of vacant 
properties to achieve more viable and vibrant centres. They can specify what is or is not an 
acceptable development or use or impose limitations to exclude certain developments within a 
use class.   
 

2.15 An LDO can facilitate changes of use replacing many minor planning applications which 
are routinely approved. LDOs can be particularly effective when combined with other 
regeneration proposals to bring about more comprehensive improvements to centres, 
including as part of environmental and infrastructure enhancements. In this regard, reference 
is made to the Town Centre Forums that are in place for both town centres. 
 
2.16 Since the COVID-19 outbreak, businesses within Carmarthen and Ammanford town 
centres have struggled, with some businesses deciding to shut down. In formulating the 2 
LDOs, due regard will be given to key evidence – notably town centre retail studies 
undertaken pre and post lockdown (looking at issues such as vacancy rates, uses etc).  
 

3. Developing an LDO – Carmarthen and Ammanford Town Centre  
 

3.1 Whilst the adopted LDP sets a strong policy direction for retail within Carmarthenshire, the 
challenges facing retail centres particularly as evidence through Covid-19 requires the 
planning process to adopt a flexible and responsive approach in ensuring our town centres 
are viable and vibrant.    
 
3.2 In this respect it is essential that Carmarthen and Ammanford are able to respond 
positively to the changes arising from Covid-19. There is potential to review and develop an 
effective strategy to promote uses to complement the town centres. In this respect it should 
not be predicated on an abandonment of the town centres overall retail focus, but the 
consideration of a flexible approach to complement activities which support the centres vitality 
and viability. With the inevitable economic effects that accompany COVID-19, the adoption of 
LDOs for the two centres will streamline the planning process and encourage ongoing and 
new investment in the town centres. 
 
Ammanford Retail Vacancy Rates 
3.3 3.3 A Town Centre Retail Survey has been conducted for each defined town centre as 
part of ongoing LDP policy monitoring and to gain an understanding of the immediate post 
lockdown impact.  This survey indicates that within the Retail Core, 64.2% of units are 
occupied by A1 retail (based on retail frontage).  However, whilst this is a healthy indication of 
retail occupancy, it is accompanied by a 9.5% vacancy rate with a further 2.3% in non-retail 
use (A2 and A3).     
 
3.4 The Retail Frontage, which represents the second-tier categorisation of retail streets 
reflects the greater flexibility attached to the scale of non-retail units within this area.  This 
demonstrates a greater mix of use types with some 35.8% occupied by A1 retail with a 13.2% 

Tudalen 12



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

vacancy rate, and 7.5% vacancy in non-retail (A2 and A3). 
 
3.5 The remainder of the wider town centre designation within the LDP contains a lower 
proportion of A1 retail (25.3%) with non-retail spread across A2, A3 and other uses with a 
4.23% vacancy rate. 
 
3.6 The total vacancy rate for Ammanford Town currently sits at 11.9% Primary Retail 
Frontage, 20.8% Secondary Retail Frontage and 14.1% for the remainder of the wider town 
(excluding Frontage and Core). In total the vacancy rate for Ammanford Town Centre is 
15.7% (including core & secondary retail, all use classes). 
 
3.7 When comparing the pre lockdown data with the post lockdown data there has been an 
increase in vacancies in some areas. The primary retail frontage vacancies rate was at 4.7% 
pre lockdown but post lockdown it is at 11.9%, that is a 7.2 percentage point increase. This is 
a considerable increase in a relatively short amount of time. However, the Secondary Retail 
Frontage vacancy rates have improved over the lockdown period from 24.5% to 20.8%. 
Although this is a welcome and positive sign it is overshadowed by the fact that the overall 
vacancies percentage has increased over the lockdown period. The overall percentage for 
vacant retail building in Ammanford pre lockdown was 13.2%, this has now increased over the 
lockdown period to 15.7%. This a clear indicator of the effect COVID has had on Ammanford’s 
Town Centre, it also highlights the need for appropriate intervention to ensure the town is 
resilient to any future and ongoing effects of Covid-19 and that it reflects to the changing 
pattern of activities within Town Centres in general. 
 
Carmarthen Retail Vacancy Rates 
3.8 The Town Centre Retail Survey for Carmarthen indicates that within the Retail Core 
75.7% of units are occupied as A1 retail (based on retail frontage).  However, whilst this is a 
healthy indication of retail occupancy, it is accompanied by a 12% vacancy rate with a further 
5.4% in non-retail use (A2 and A3).     
 
3.9 The Retail Frontage, which represents the second-tier categorisation of retail streets. 
reflects the greater flexibility attached to the scale of non-retail units within this area.  This 
demonstrates a greater mix of use types with some 59% occupied by A1 retail with a 11% 
vacancy rate. And 4.7% vacancy in non-retail (A2 and A3). 
 
3.10 The remainder of the wider town centre designation within the LDP contains a lower 
proportion of A1 retail (9.7%) with non-retail spread across A2, A3 and other uses with a 8% 
vacancy rate. 
 
3.11 The total vacancy rate for Carmarthen Town Centre Primary Retail Frontage currently 
sits at 19.5%, 17.3% Secondary Retail Frontage and 11.9% for the remainder of the wider 
town (excluding Frontage and Core). In total the vacancy rate for Carmarthen Town Centre is 
15.4% (including core & secondary retail, all use classes) 
 
3.12 When comparing the pre lockdown data with the post lockdown data there has been an 
increase in vacancies in some areas. The primary retail frontage vacancies rate was at 12.3% 
pre lockdown but post lockdown it’s at 19.5%, that is a 7.2 percentage point increase. This is 

Tudalen 13



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

a considerable increase in a relatively short amount of time, and the trend continues. The 
Secondary Retail Frontage vacancy rates have also dropped over the lockdown period, 
before lockdown the vacancy rate was at 11.4% but post lockdown it is at 17.3%. Another 
considerable increase of 5.9 percentage points. The overall percentage for vacant retail units 
in Carmarthen pre lockdown was 11%, this has now increased over the lockdown period to 
15.4%. This is a clear indicator of the effect COVID has had on Carmarthen’s Town Centre, it 
also highlights the need for appropriate intervention to ensure the town is resilient to any 
future and ongoing effects of Covid-19 and that it reflects to the changing pattern of activities 
within Town Centres in general. 
 
Note: The above figures will be subject to ongoing monitoring to reflect the impacts arising 
from Covid-19. 
 

4.    What will the LDO Permit and its Spatial Extent 
 
4.1 The uses permitted through the draft LDOs, is set out in the appended Local Development 
Order’s and Statements of Reasons.  The proposed spatial extent of the town centres to 
which the Draft LDO’s provisions will relate is also forms part of the appended documents to 
this report. Further details on the location of listed buildings and the extent of any 
Conservation Areas is also appended. 
 

5.    Lifetime of the LDO  

5.1 It is proposed that the LDO operate for an initial period from its adoption to coincide with 
the anticipated adoption of the Revised LDP as outlined within the emerging Revised Delivery 
Agreement – August 2022. This period will however be subject to ongoing review and may be 
extended or reduced subject to the progression of the Revised LDP towards adoption.  
 
5.2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 
continued after its period of operation (subject to the conditions of the LDO). Once the LDO 
has expired, however, no new changes of use will be allowed under its terms without 
conventional planning permission. Reference should be had to the content of Appendix 1 in 
relation to the legislative framework in respect of revocation and revision and the potential for 
compensation should an LDO be withdrawn. 
 
 

6. Operation of the LDO 
 
6.1 The LDO will be subject to a 2-stage process (Certificate of Conformity and 
Commencement Notice Approval).   
 
Where a ‘development’ is proposed which is within the LDO area and conforms with the 
schedule of approved use classes (as referenced above), a Certificate of Conformity will be 
issued by the Council.  Applicants will be required to submit their proposals and pay the 
nominal fee of £90 to the LPA.   
 

Tudalen 14



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

A change of use cannot commence however until a Commencement Notice Approval is 
released by the LPA.  In this respect an applicant will need to satisfy any requirements as set 
out in those regulatory regimes that are outside of the planning system e.g. building 
regulations and any required pre-conditions as set out within the LDO. 

A Commencement Notice Approval will not be issued where the necessary information to 
support the proposal has not been provided and/or where the required pre-conditions have 
not been met. 
 
The processes utilised in operating the Llanelli Town Centre LDO includes a notification 
system whereby key consultees (e.g. Town/Rural Councils, Dwr Cymru or Natural Resources 
Wales) are informed of LDO proposals. This reflects that such bodies would ordinarily be 
notified/consulted through the planning application process. 
 
6.3 Reference will be had to the current processes used in implementing the Llanelli Town 
Centre LDO and utilised as appropriate, including the measures for monitoring its 
implementation. 
 

7. Next Steps 
 

7.1 In drafting the LDOs it will be necessary to clearly establish their purpose, scope and 
extent linking into the regeneration and other objectives.  They may differ in form given the 
differences between the two centres.  
 
7.2 In progressing towards the adoption of the LDO, approval is sought to formally publish its 
provisions for a minimum formal 6-week public consultation.  Representations received during 
this period will be reported to back to a future meeting of Full Council for consideration prior to 
its formal adoption and implementation.  

7.3 This consultation will be accompanied by the publication of the appropriate evidence and 
any other supporting information.   
 
7.4 Discussions, including input from local members and interested groups will be undertaken 
as part of their formulation. In this respect it will also be essential at an early stage to consult 
informally with communities, statutory consultees and other stakeholders, with the emphasis 
on the future of the area in a post COVID-19 world and beyond rather than the specific details 
of the LDOs.   
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? No 

Tudalen 15



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

 

Signed:    L Quelch                                                                    Head of Planning                             

 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

YES  YES  YES  NONE  

 

 NONE  

 

NONE  

 

NONE  

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

Reflects the provisions of National Planning Policy, and the evidential information set out within 
the report support, and where appropriate, will be utilised in the implementation of the LDO and 
will inform a review of the Local Development Plan. It also ensures alignment with the national 
Well-being Goals set out within the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.   
 

National and local planning policies seek to promote the principles of sustainability and 
sustainable development by facilitating the creation of communities and local economies which 
are more sustainable. 

 

The integration of sustainability and the evidential requirements in preparing the LDO ensures 
an iterative approach to policy making which ensures sustainability is at its heart and that it is 
reflective of the requirements emanating from the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act. 

 

2. Legal   

A Local Planning Authority may issue an LDO under section 61 (A, B, C and D) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as inserted by section 40(1) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and amended by sections 188 and 238 and Schedule 13 of the Planning Act 
2008.  This power became effective in Wales on 30 April 2012. The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 (DMPWO), sets out the procedural 
requirements for making LDOs, including preparation, notices, publicity, consultation, and 
adoption. 

Guidance on the procedures relating to the use of LDOs is contained in Welsh Government 
Circular 003/2012: Guidance on using a Local Development Order. 

Tudalen 16



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

3. Finance   

Financial costs (including preparation of the LDO) will be covered through the financial 
provisions in place - including reserves.  Established provisions are in place in relation to the 
gathering and apportionment of financial contributions from developer contributions.  The 
impact on such contributions is unknown and can only be established once the extent of any 
LDO is understood. 

 

The implication on planning fees through the removal of the need for planning permission is at 
this stage unknown.  Whilst this is not expected to be significant it will be off-set by the 
economic and regeneration benefits accrued through the successful implementation of the 
LDO.  Reference is made to the potential that Compensation may be payable should an LDO 
be subsequently withdrawn.  The potential for this is subject to the provisions of statutory 
instruments.  

 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 

 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

 

Signed:       L Quelch                                                         Head of Planning                                                 

 

(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against the following headings) 

1.Local Member(s)   

Requirement for consultation as part of any LDO preparation. 

 

2.Community / Town Council  

Requirement for consultation as part of any LDO preparation. 

 

3.Relevant Partners   

Requirement for consultation as part of any LDO preparation. 

 

4.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   

Requirement for consultation as part of any LDO preparation. 

 

 
 

Tudalen 17



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     

Title of Document 

 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 

 http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/resid
ents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-
development-plan/ 
 

Planning Policy Wales. 
Ed.10 

 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-
12/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf 
 

Technical Advice Note 
4 

 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-
09/tan4-retail-commercial-development.pdf 
 

Llanelli Town Centre 
Local Development 
Order 

 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/cou
ncil-services/planning/llanelli-town-centre-local-
development-order-ldo/#.X2xtpeSovIU 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 18

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-12/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-12/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-09/tan4-retail-commercial-development.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-09/tan4-retail-commercial-development.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/llanelli-town-centre-local-development-order-ldo/#.X2xtpeSovIU
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/llanelli-town-centre-local-development-order-ldo/#.X2xtpeSovIU
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/llanelli-town-centre-local-development-order-ldo/#.X2xtpeSovIU


Appendix 1 - Local Development Orders 
 
A1.1 The following report should be read in conjunction with the content of the main 
report.  It sets out further detail in relation to the legislative framework underpinning 
an LDO and some specific limitations in their use.  In addition in preparing an LDO 
consideration will be given to any potential implications arising from its designation.  
The following identifies some specific examples drawn from Welsh Government 
Good Practice.  
 
Legislative and Policy Framework 
A1.2 A Local Development Order (LDO) may be issued by an LPA may under 
section 61 (A, B, C and D) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as inserted 
by section 40(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and amended 
by sections 188 and 238 and Schedule 13 of the Planning Act 2008. This power 
became effective in Wales on 30 April 2012.  
 
A1.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 state that 
permission granted by a LDO will constitute “planning permission” (regulation 
5(3)(a)ii). As a consequence, an LDO may obviate the need to submit a planning 
application for a certain type of development, but it will not prevent a levy through 
CIL from being charged, when appropriate and where a CIL charge applies. 
 
A1.4 It should be noted however that Section 106 planning obligations cannot be 
required under an LDO; however, this does not prevent section 106 agreements 
being offered by a developer. For example, if a condition attached to a Local 
Development Order requires mitigation of an impact from development then a 
section 106 agreement could be used to secure this.  
 
A1.5 It should be noted that there are a number of limitations in implementing an 
LDO. In this respect Welsh Government Circular 003/2012 states that an LDO may 
not grant planning permission for development that would:  
 
a) Have a significant effect on a European Site or a European Offshore Marine Site 
(either alone or in combination with other projects) unless the development is 
connected to, or necessary for, the management of the site;  
 
b) Constitute “Schedule 1 development” or “Schedule 2 development” within the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 1999; 
or  
 
c) Affect a listed building.  
 
A1.6 In respect of the above an LDO cannot consequently grant planning permission 
for development which is likely to have a significant effect on a European Site or 
European Offshore Marine Site (either alone or in combination with other plans and 
projects), and is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the 
site. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 19

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/use-of-planning-conditions/


Considerations associated with LDO’s 
A1.7 Welsh Government Good Practice prepared in relation LDO’s identified a 
number of areas for Welsh local authorities to consider.  Specific examples are as 
follows: 
 

 Would an LDO lead to a loss of democratic control over development, 
undermining the role of elected members and local communities?  In 
response WG Good Practice points to case studies undertaken which indicate 
that where an LDO is in place, Local Planning Authorities and communities 
still exercise democratic control over development.  In this respect clear rules 
are required in advance as part of the LDO, as opposed to any case-by-case 
discretion.  

 

 Is there a potential for an increase in workloads and would additional layers of 
complexity be added to the planning process? – WG Good Practice suggests 
that it may ultimately reduce workload in development management, cutting 
out routine work within the defined LDO area.  

 
A1.8 Any LDOs will result in a reduced income from planning applications fees, as 
developers only need to submit a pre-notification, for which they pay the Council a 
token sum. However, will only be quantifiable once the LDO and its geographical 
extent is defined. Subject to its scope and extent the impact may be potentially minor 
in income terms (based on the potential number of applications likely to be received), 
however it should be recognised that there will none the less be an impact.   
 
Link to Welsh Government Circular 003/2012:  
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/120427ldoguidanceen.pdf  

Tudalen 20

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/120427ldoguidanceen.pdf


Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

1 

 

 

AMMANFORD TOWN CENTRE 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER  

Contents  

1.0 Overview  

2.0 Lifetime of the LDO 

3.0 Permitted Uses  

4.0 Conditions  

5.0 Notes  

6.0 Compliance  

7.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy 

8.0 Plan of the LDO Area (appended to this report to Executive Board) 

9.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area (appended to this report to 

Executive Board) 

10.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area (appended to this report to 

Executive Board) 

11.0 Key Contacts  

  

Tudalen 21



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

2 

1.0 Overview  

1.1 A Local Planning Authority (LPA) may use a LDO to grant blanket planning 

permission for non-contentious, though not necessarily minor, forms of “development” 

/ changes in use within a defined spatial area. Reference should also be made to the 

Statement of Reasons accompanying this LDO. It is advised that before submitting an 

application, interested parties liaise with Planning Services to scope out any potential 

issues and requirements and also confirm “validation” requirements. Reference is also 

made to the LDO Application Form in this respect. 

 

1.2 The Permitted Uses are set out in Section 3. The Area is shown in Section 8 (for 

the purposes of the report to Executive Board – this is provided as an Appendix).  

 

1.3 The LDO grants conditional planning permission for specified uses in ground and 

upper-floor units. It is envisaged that the LDO, in permitting a wide range of compatible 

uses, will help to increase occupancy levels and footfall in the town centre. The LDO 

does not grant approval for external works. Proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council, irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity has been issued. Listed Buildings are not applicable to the 

LDO. A Certificate of Conformity will last for 3 years and should the proposal not 

commence before the end of that period then it will lapse. 

  

 

 

Tudalen 22



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

3 

1.4 After eighteen months, the LDO will be considered a success if two or more of the 

following changes have occurred in the LDO area: 

 Five or more vacant ground-floor units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity (source: Forward Planning) ;  

 Annual footfall has increased within the LDO area (source: Council 

Regeneration Department footfall counters);  

 The number of vacant ground-floor units has decreased within the LDO area 

(source: Forward Planning); 

 Three or more upper floor vacant units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity– this includes flats and residential uses – use class C3 - (source: 

Forward Planning).  

1.5 The LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not required. A 

Test of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats Regulations 

has concluded that the LDO will have no significant effect (alone or in combination) 

with a European Site or a European Offshore Marine Site. The LDO has also been 

screened as part of the Equalities Impact Assessment process. 

1.6 The LDO does not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SA-SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an 

elaboration upon the provisions of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 

— 2021(Adopted December 2014). The LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA 

along with a Plan level Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

 

Tudalen 23



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

4 

2.0 Lifetime of the LDO  

2.1 The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the 

adoption of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to 

ongoing review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of 

the LDO.  

2.2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this eighteen month period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no 

new changes of use will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning 

permission. Towards the end of the eighteen month period, Carmarthenshire County 

Council will assess the impact of the LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO 

with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO with new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the 

LDO.  

Tudalen 24



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

5 

3.0 Permitted Uses  

3.1 The following table outlines the relevant use classes which will be permitted or 

otherwise through the LDO and within its defined spatial area. 

  

Use Class Ground Floors 
Other Floors 
(Excluding 
basements) 

A1 Shops Yes Yes 

A2 Financial and Professional Services Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink Restaurants and Cafes Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink 
Drinking establishments (but not night clubs) Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink 
Hot food takeaways Yes No 

B1 Business (offices other than those within A2) No Yes 

C1 Hotels, boarding houses and guest houses No Yes 

C3 Dwellings (residential incl. flats) No Yes 

D1 Non-residential institutions (Note - LDO 
excludes Law Courts, Church Halls and 
Libraries) Yes Yes 

D2 Assembly and leisure buildings (Note LDO 
only permits gymnasiums and area for indoor 
sports or recreations - except for motor sports, 
or where firearms are used) Yes Yes 

Other (specified sui) Launderettes and taxi 
businesses only Yes Yes 

 

Further information in relation to the Use Class Order can be viewed through the following link: 

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/wales_en/info/3/common_projects/6/change_of_use  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 25

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/wales_en/info/3/common_projects/6/change_of_use


Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

6 

4.0 Conditions  

General  

1. No change of use permitted by the LDO shall commence until an application for a 

Certificate of Conformity has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority (LPA). In all circumstances, and irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity is issued, proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council. 

Reason: To ensure that proposed changes of use comply with the terms of the 

Local Development Order.  

 

2. With reference to Planning Policy Wales Technical Advice Note 15 (TAN15): 

Development and Flood Risk (or any document that updates or replaces it during the 

course of the LDO), no change in use to highly vulnerable development (as defined in 

TAN 15) is permitted in any ground-floor unit located in Development Advice Map Zone 

C2.  

Reason: To accord with the provisions of national planning policy in the form of 

TAN 15.  

3. Reference is made to the provisions of TAN 15 in this respect the LDO area is not 

located within Flood Zones C1 or C2 as defined on the DAMs.  Reference is also made 

to Note 11 set out within Section 5 of this LDO.  

Reason: To ensure that no development permitted by the LDO has unacceptable 

flooding consequences.  

 

Tudalen 26



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

7 

Removal of permitted-development rights  

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any Order revoking or re-

enacting that Order), no development within Schedule 2, Part 40, Classes A, B, C, D, 

E, F, G, H or I may be carried out at any dwelling house (as defined in Welsh Statutory 

Instrument 2009 2193(W.185)) created under the LDO without the prior written 

permission of the LPA.  

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory form of development takes place. 

 

Residential Proposals  

5. No conversion scheme implemented under the terms of the LDO, whether in 

isolation or in combination with another scheme (regardless of ownership), may create 

an inappropriate concentration of single bedroom units.   

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

 

Units of multiple occupation  

6. No conversion scheme implemented under the terms of the LDO, whether in 

isolation or in combination with another scheme (regardless of ownership), will be 

considered appropriate where it results in the creation of a unit of multiple occupation 

(i.e C4 use for small HMO or sui generis for large HMO). 

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

Tudalen 27



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

8 

 

Licensable Activity 

7. Where applicable, non-planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to 

commencement of change of use. Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and 

the requirement to attain Commencement Notice Approval from the Council. The 

contractor/developer will need to ensure that licensing approval is sought prior to any 

works commencing on site. Contact Tel: 01267 234567, email 

publicprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Reason: To ensure compliance with legislative provisions.   

 

Street Scene  

8. Existing ground-floor windows and shop fronts must not be obscured, either 

internally or externally, by paint, whitewash, film, curtains or any other opaque 

material.  

Reason: To maintain the commercial character and appearance of the Town 

Centre.  

 

Public Amenity 

9. Where required and requested; a detailed Risk Assessment (the scope of which 

must be agreed with the Homes and Safer Communities team (HSC)) should be 

submitted to, and approved by the HSC prior to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 

issuing a commencement notice approval. The Risk Assessment should 

assess/predict the likely impact of the proposed development as a whole on the 

Tudalen 28



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

9 

existing commercial and residential properties within the area and/or predict the likely 

impact of existing commercial and residential properties on the proposed 

development. Where necessary the risk assessment shall identify the required 

mitigation in the form of a Management Plan. The change of use shall thereafter be 

carried out in accordance with any approved Management Plan.  

Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity of people using the 

surrounding area. 

 

Building Regulations  

10. Non planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to commencement of 

change of use.  The contractor/developer will need to ensure that Local Authority 

Building Control (LABC) approval is sought prior to any works commencing on site. 

Contact Tel: 01267 246044 email building.control@carmarthenshire.gov.uk. 

Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and the requirement to attain 

Commencement Notice Approval from the Council.   

Reason: To ensure compliance with legislative provisions.   

 

Lettings Policy 

11. Where appropriate, residential uses permitted by the LDO will be required to 

adhere to requirements in relation to any County Council Lettings Policy. Advice 

should be sought from the relevant department. 

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

Tudalen 29



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

10 

 

Other Regulatory Regimes  

12. Non planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to commencement of 

change of use.  Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and the requirement to 

attain Commencement Notice Approval from the Council.   

Reason: To protect the amenities of persons in neighbouring properties. 

Drainage Strategy 

13 No change of use shall commence where it will result in the hydraulic overload of 

the public sewerage system. Where required and requested; a drainage strategy 

should be submitted to, and approved by, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water.   

Reason:  To enable the implementation of the LDO drainage strategy   

 

Assessment of Assets  

14. No change of use shall commence where it will result in the compromising of the 

integrity of any public sewer and/or water main assets within and/or adjacent to the 

site. Where required and requested; an assessment should be submitted to, and 

approved by, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water which clarifies any impact and where 

necessary any mitigation.    

Reason:  To support the implementation of the LDO Drainage Strategy  

  

Tudalen 30



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

11 

5.0 Notes  

1. The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the adoption 

of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to ongoing 

review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of the LDO.  

2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this eighteen month period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no 

new changes of use will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning 

permission. Towards the end of the eighteen month period, Carmarthenshire County 

Council will assess the impact of the LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO 

with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO with new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the 

LDO.  

3. The LDO does not grant planning permission for any “development” (as defined in 

Part III, Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) except the changes 

of use described in section 3. 

4. In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in 

accordance with current Council procedures.  

5. The LDO does not remove any requirement for advertisement or listed-building 

consent.  

6. The LDO does not remove any requirement for consent under non-planning 

regulations, such as those relating to licensing, environmental health and building 

control.  

 

Tudalen 31



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

12 

7. The LDO applies only to the area indicated on the LDO plan (see section 8 

appended to this report for Executive Board).  

8. Occupiers of dwellings created under the terms of the LDO will not be entitled to 

council parking permits.  

9. The LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not required (this 

will be confirmed post Executive Board).  

10. The TAN 15 Development Advice Map may be viewed on the Natural Resources 

Wales website. Reference is also made to the Plan set out in Section 10 (appended 

to the Executive Board report). 

11. An Advisory note in relation to Flood Risk management may be appended to 

Certificates of Conformity. 

12. An Advisory note in relation to Ecology may be appended to Certificates of 

Conformity. 

13. Based on the number of existing units within the Project site, it is unlikely that more 

than 180 residential conversions could be physically delivered. Should a figure of 100 

Commencement Notice Approvals for residential units be reached within the eighteen 

month period lifetime, then a moratorium will be placed on the LDO and it will be 

reviewed with the outcomes reported to full Council. Such a review will be informed by 

the input of the notification stakeholders (including NRW and DCWW). 

14. An Advisory note in relation to the Built Historic Environment may be appended to 

Certificates of Conformity. 

 

Tudalen 32



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

13 

 

6.0 Compliance  

Carmarthenshire County Council will monitor changes of use within the Town centre 

and, when appropriate, may take enforcement action against unauthorised 

development, including any uses that operate in breach of the conditions.  

  

Tudalen 33



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

14 

7.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy  

In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in 

accordance with current Council procedures.  

  

Tudalen 34



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

15 

8.0 Plan of the LDO Area (see Appendix) 

 

  

Tudalen 35



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

16 

9.0 Plan of listed buildings and Conservation Area (see Appendix) 

  

Tudalen 36



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

17 

10.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area  

 

To be inserted  

Tudalen 37



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

18 

Notes  

i) The above Plan is based on the Development Advice Maps (DAMs) October 2020. 

ii) The DAMs are reviewed periodically and therefore may change during the three-

year lifetime of the LDO. Reference should be made to Natural Resources Wales’ 

website in this regard. 

 

  

Tudalen 38



Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting - November 2020 

19 

11.0 Key Contacts 

1 Development Management (planning applications) – Llandeilo Office – TBC 

planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

2 Forward Planning – 01267 228818 forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

3 Public Protection 01267 234567 publicprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

4 Building Control 01267 246044 building.control@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 39



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Draft Local Development Order – Ammanford Town Centre  

Executive Board – 2 November 2020 

 

Schedule of Appendices  

 

Plan 1 – Draft Local Development Order Area  

Plan 2 – Listed Buildings  

Plan 3 – Development Advice Map – Flood Risk. 

Tudalen 41



Tudalen 42



Tudalen 43



Tudalen 44



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

1 

 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER: AMMANFORD TOWN CENTRE 

STATEMENT OF REASONS  

CONTENTS  

1.0 Legislation and Policy  

2.0 Overview  

3.0 Justification for the creation of the Ammanford Town Centre LDO  

4.0 Lifetime of the LDO 

5.0 Permitted Uses (refer to the LDO itself) 

6.0 Policy context and expected impact  

7.0 Conditions (refer to the LDO itself) 

8.0 Notes (refer to the LDO itself) 

9.0 Compliance  

10.0 Results and Monitoring 

11.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy 

12.0 Risk Assessment  

13.0 Plan of the LDO Area (see appendix) 

14.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area (see appendix) 

15.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area (see appendix) 

16.0 Key Contacts (refer to the LDO itself) 

 

ANNEX 

Notification Procedure  

  

 

  

Tudalen 45



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

2 

1.0 Legislation and policy 

1.1 Local Planning Authorities may issue a Local Development Order (LDO) under section 

61 (A, B, C and D) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as inserted by section 

40(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and amended by sections 188 

and 238 and Schedule 13 of the Planning Act 2008. This power became effective in Wales 

on 30 April 2012.  

1.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 state that permission granted 

by a LDO will constitute “planning permission” (regulation 5(3)(a)ii). As a consequence, 

an LDO may obviate the need to submit a planning application for a certain type of 

development, but it will not prevent a levy from being charged, when appropriate, under 

any prospective Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule. It should be 

noted that at the time of writing no CIL charge is in place within Carmarthenshire. 

1.3 Welsh Government Circular 003/2012 states that an LDO may not grant planning 

permission for development that would:  

a) Have a significant effect on a European Site or a European Offshore Marine 

Site (either alone or in combination with other projects) unless the development 

is connected to, or necessary for, the management of the site;  

b) Constitute “Schedule 1 development” or “Schedule 2 development” within 

the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 1999; or  

c) Affect a listed building.  

 

 

Tudalen 46



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

3 

1.4 In relation to point b) above, reference is made to the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017.  These supersede the 

1999 and 2016 Regulations and specifically make provision for Local Development 

Orders to grant planning permission for Schedule 2 EIA development in certain 

circumstances.  In this respect the Schedule 2 EIA screening thresholds for ‘Urban 

Development Projects’ increased from 0.5ha to: 

 1ha if the development does not include housing; or 

 The construction of over 150 new houses; or 

An overall development area exceeding 5h 

1.5 The LDO will be screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, to consider whether an Environmental Statement is not required. A Test of 

Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats Regulations will also be 

undertaken ahead of adoption. The LDO has also been screened as part of the Equalities 

Impact Assessment process. 

1.6 The LDO does not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SA-SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an elaboration upon the 

provisions of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 — 2021(Adopted 

December 2014). The LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA along with a Plan level 

Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

 

Tudalen 47



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

4 

2.0 Overview  

2.1 A Local Planning Authority (LPA) may use a LDO to grant blanket planning permission 

for non-contentious, though not necessarily minor, forms of “development” / changes in 

use within a defined spatial area. It is advised that before submitting an application, 

interested parties liaise with Planning Services to scope out any potential issues and 

requirements and also confirm “validation” requirements. Reference is also made to the 

LDO Application Form in this respect. 

2.2 The Ammanford LDO area is shown on the map in Section 13.  

2.3 The LDO grants conditional planning permission for specified uses in ground and 

upper-floor units. It is envisaged that the LDO, in permitting a wide range of compatible 

uses, will help to increase occupancy levels and footfall in the town centre. The LDO does 

not grant approval for external works. Proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council, irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity has been issued.  Listed Buildings are not applicable to the LDO. 

A Certificate of Conformity will last for 3 years and should the proposal not commence 

before the end of that period then it will lapse. 

2.4 The LDO permits only certain changes of use (as listed in Section 5) within the area 

identified on the Plan in Section 13).  

2.5 In order to protect the living conditions of existing and future residents in the town 

centre, every applicant must ensure that they satisfy the pertinent provisions within the 

relevant legislation. For example, building regulations and environmental health & public 

protection. For reference, a list of key contacts is provided in Section 16. 

 

Tudalen 48



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

5 

2.6 At the end of its period, the LDO will be considered a success if two or more of the 

following changes have occurred in the LDO area: 

 Five or more vacant ground-floor units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity (source: Forward Planning);  

 Annual footfall has increased within the LDO area (source: Council Regeneration 

Department footfall counters);  

 The number of vacant ground-floor units has decreased within the LDO area 

(source: Forward Planning); 

 Three or more upper floor vacant units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity this includes flats and residential uses – use class C3 - (source: 

Forward Planning).  

Tudalen 49



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

6 

3.0 Justification for the creation of the Ammanford Town Centre LDO  

3.1 Where a retail centre is demonstrating signs of decline, national planning policy 

makes provision for that decline to be managed and/or for action to be taken to regenerate 

a centre. In such circumstances an LDO may (as part of a collective approach) contribute 

to local economic development and regeneration, helping make places more attractive 

and more competitive, helping in incentivising development and reducing vacancy rates. 

The impact associated with the Covid-19 pandemic and the economic impact is 

particularly relevant in this regard and there is clear evidence that Ammanford town centre 

faces challenges arising from what are unprecedented circumstances.  Whilst this may 

not impact wholly across the wider town centre, there are areas where implications on 

the retail sector will be more prevalent and raise specific issues in relation to prospective 

long-term vacancies. 

3.2 The Welsh Government in Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 

Resilient and Brighter Futures - Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery clearly 

identified the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown on our retail and commercial centres.  

The impact on footfall in town centre across Wales has witnessed them experiencing 

declining visitors, except for those people shopping for essential items with the 

comparison retail sector notably impacted.  In this respect during the lock down months 

supermarkets and convenience retailers became the few shops still trading.  All of this 

was at a time when components of the retail sector and certain town centres were 

already experiencing difficulties.  

3.3 Building Better Places identifies that: “The economic consequences have meant that 

many retailers are struggling financially, and this will lead to higher vacancy rates in all 

of our commercial centres. Online competition to our town centre retailers was strong 

before the crisis; this situation will become more apparent as more retailers increase 

Tudalen 50



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

7 

their online presence and more people have become used to doing the majority of their 

non-essential shopping online.”   

3.4 There is a recognition that retail and commercial centres are hubs of social and 

economic activity and that their function extends beyond retail providing a focal point for 

a diverse range of services and cultural activities/functions.  These functions are often 

equally important in supporting the needs of local communities.  

3.5 The WG in recognising the central role of retail and commercial centres state that 

they “should become places where a variety of retail, employment, commercial, 

community, leisure, health and public sector uses come together in a hub of activity to 

make them viable as go-to destinations once more. Flexible, local co-working spaces 

could also be a crucial new element to increase space to work. Residential uses are 

also key to the vitality of centres, provided that they do not curtail the commercial 

activities which take place and soundscapes are considered.”   In this respect it is 

recognised that residential particularly on upper floors provides an added dynamic in 

creating ‘living’ town centres. 

3.6 Indeed, as the challenges to respond to the impact of Covid-19 becomes clear and 

as town centres reshape themselves, this would suggest that traditional retailing uses 

will not be as prevalent and the demand for new retail space will lessen for the 

foreseeable future.   

3.7 Consequently, the WG identify that the role of primary retail areas will need to be 

reviewed in light of Covid-19, and this must be realistic recognising that retail occupiers 

will not return in the way prior to the pandemic.  This will require a review and 

reassessment of future planning policies.   

Tudalen 51



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

8 

3.8 Reference is drawn to the ongoing monitoring in relation to the implementation of the 

Revised LDP in the form of the Annual Monitoring Reports. In this respect specific regard 

should be had to the Carmarthenshire Town Centre Retail Audit and the recently 

published 2020 update. 

3.9 The Town Centre Retail Audit 2020 update conducted as part of ongoing LDP policy 

monitoring indicates that within the Retail Core, 64.2% of units are occupied by A1 retail 

(based on retail frontage).  However, whilst this is a healthy indication of retail 

occupancy, it is accompanied by a 9.5% retail vacancy rate with a further 2.3% in non-

retail use (A2 and A3).     

3.10 The Retail Frontage, which represents the second-tier categorisation of retail 

streets reflects the greater flexibility attached to the scale of non-retail units within this 

area.  This demonstrates a greater mix of use types with some 35.8% occupied by A1 

retail with a 13.2% vacancy rate, and 7.5% vacancy in non-retail (A2 and A3). 

3.11 The remainder of the wider town centre designation within the LDP contains a 

lower proportion of A1 retail (25.3%) with non-retail spread across A2, A3 and other 

uses with a 4.23% vacancy rate. 

3.12 The total vacancy rate for Ammanford Town currently sits at 11.9% Primary Retail 

Frontage, 20.8% Secondary Retail Frontage and 14.1% for the remainder of the wider 

town (excluding Frontage and Core). In total the vacancy rate for Ammanford Town 

Centre is 15.7% (including core & secondary retail, all use classes). 

3.13 When comparing the pre lockdown data with the post lockdown data there has 

been a clear increase in vacancies in some areas. The primary retail frontage vacancies 

rate was at 4.7% pre lockdown but post lockdown it is at 11.9%, representing an 

Tudalen 52



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

9 

increase of 7.2 percentage points. This is a considerable increase in a relatively short 

period of time and reflects the specific challenges within the retail sector.  

3.14 However, the Secondary Retail Frontage vacancy rates have improved over the 

lockdown period from 24.5% to 20.8%. Although this is a welcome and positive sign it is 

overshadowed by the overall increase in vacancy over the lockdown period.  

3.15 The overall percentage for vacant retail building in Ammanford pre lockdown was 

13.2%, this has now increased over the lockdown period to 15.7%. This a clear indicator 

of the effect COVID has had on Ammanford’s Town Centre.  It also highlights the need 

for appropriate intervention to ensure the town is resilient to any future and ongoing 

effects of Covid-19 and that it reflects the changing pattern of activities within Town 

Centres as mirrored in National Planning policy.   

3.16 National Planning Policy reflects that in some circumstances where there has been 

an over emphasis on A1 uses these may undermine a centre’s prospects, with potential 

consequences such as higher vacancy rates. In such circumstances the role of uses other 

than A1 (retail) in increasing diversity and reducing vacancy may be considered. This may 

be achieved through a rationalising of boundaries, allowing appropriate changes of use 

whilst focusing A1 (retail) uses in a more concentrated area.   

3.17 In this context an LDO can facilitate changes of use, alterations, extensions etc, 

replacing many minor planning applications which are routinely approved. LDOs can be 

particularly effective when combined with other regeneration proposals to bring about 

more comprehensive improvements to centres, including as part of environmental and 

infrastructure enhancements. To this end, the LDO can be seen as part of a wider 

package of policy interventions in the Town Centre which the County Council is 

undertaking in partnership under the auspices of the Task Force. 

Tudalen 53



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

10 

3.18 Whilst the LDP sets a strong policy direction for retail within a Carmarthenshire, the 

challenges facing Ammanford in light of Covid – 19 and in advance of the adoption of the 

Revised LDP requires specific consideration.  The opportunities exist to co-ordinate with 

and develop upon the established work being undertaken by the  ‘Task Force’ and the 

broader regeneration proposals – both of which are seeking to address matters 

surrounding the decline of the town centre and its environs, presents an opportune time 

evaluate options.  There is potential to review and develop an effective strategy to 

promote uses to complement the town centre and out of town retail offer.  In this respect 

it should not be predicated on an abandonment of the town centres overall retail focus, 

but the consideration of a flexible approach to complement activities which support the 

centres vitality and viability. The platform for engagement, together with a direct policy 

intervention.   

3.19 For the time being, developers who wish to change the use of a town centre unit 

must operate within the legislative and policy parameters. This means that most changes 

of use, no matter how desirable, require planning permission. The practice of allowing a 

valuable unit to remain empty for up to eight weeks while a planning application is 

processed is inimical to economic growth particularly within the context of the challenges 

being faced through Covid-19.  By creating a more permissive planning regime in the 

town centre, the LDO will seek to promote a living town centre environment.  

3.20 In scoping and drafting this LDO it was considered necessary to clearly establish its 

purpose, scope and extent linking into the regeneration and other objectives.   

 

  

Tudalen 54



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

11 

4.0 Lifetime of the LDO  

4.1 The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the adoption 

of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to ongoing 

review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of the LDO.  

4.2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no new changes of use 

will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning permission. Towards the 

end of the life of the LDO period, Carmarthenshire County Council will assess the impact 

of the LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO 

with new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the LDO.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 55



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

12 

5.0 Permitted Uses   

Please refer to the LDO itself – section 3 

 

Tudalen 56



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

13 

6.0 Policy context and expected impact  

6.1 The relevant Development Plan for Ammanford is the Carmarthenshire LDP. To the 

extent that development plan policies are material to an application for planning 

permission, the decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless 

there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 37(6) : Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

6.1.1 Given that proposals will be permitted under this LDO without the need for planning 

permission, it is important to note the LDO’s overall linkages and compliance with the 

LDP. This also confirms that an SA-SEA on the LDO is not required (see paragraph 1.5). 

This Section reviews the LDO against the 14 LDP Strategic Objectives (SO) and those 

LDP Strategic Policies (SP) of relevance. There is also commentary provided in relation 

to relevant Area Wide (AW) policies. 

LDP - Strategic Objectives  

6.1.2 SO1: To protect and enhance the diverse character, distinctiveness, safety and 

vibrancy of the County’s communities by ensuring sympathetic, sustainable, and high-

quality standards of design. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of the 

area. 

6.1.3 SO2: To ensure that the principles of spatial sustainability are upheld by: 

(a) enabling development in locations which minimise the need to travel and 

contribute towards sustainable communities and economies and respecting 

environmental limits, and 

Tudalen 57



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

14 

(b) to wherever possible encourage new development on previously developed 

land which has been suitably remediated. 

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating developmental opportunities within the town 

centre, which is accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be 

consistent with efforts to promote sustainable development.  

6.1.4 SO3: To make provision for an appropriate mix of quality homes; access to which 

will be based around the principles of sustainable socio-economic development and 

equality of opportunities. 

Expected impact of LDO: By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area as well as promoting vibrant and living town centres.  

6.1.5 SO4: To ensure that the natural, built and historic environment is safeguarded and 

enhanced, and that habitats and species are protected. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment or the natural 

environment. Anyone wishing to make alterations to a listed building would still require 

the relevant consent. 

6.1.6 SO5: To make a significant contribution towards tackling the cause and adapting to 

the effect of climate change by promoting the efficient use and safeguarding of resources. 

Expected impact of LDO: By focusing commercial uses in the town centre, which is 

accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with 

efforts to promote sustainable development. It will promote the appropriate use and/or re 

use of existing buildings (including but not exclusively vacant buildings). 

Tudalen 58



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

15 

6.1.7 SO6: To assist in widening and promoting education and skills training opportunities 

for all. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may 

provide opportunities for additional facilities.  

6.1.8 SO7: To assist in protecting and enhancing the Welsh Language and the County’s 

unique cultural identity, assets and social fabric. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may well 

generate additional opportunities and facilities for promoting the County’s special 

characteristics.  

6.1.9 SO8: To assist with widening and promoting opportunities to access community, 

leisure and recreational facilities as well as the countryside. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may well 

generate additional opportunities and facilities.  

6.1.10 SO9: To ensure that the principles of equal opportunities and social inclusion are 

upheld by promoting access to a high quality and diverse mix of public services, 

healthcare, shops, leisure facilities and work opportunities. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses. This would seek to encourage social and/or physical 

inclusion. 

6.1.11 SO10: To contribute to the delivery of an integrated and sustainable transport 

system that is accessible to all. 

Tudalen 59



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

16 

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating developmental opportunities within the town 

centre, which is accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be 

consistent with efforts to promote sustainable development. 

6.1.12 SO11: To encourage investment & innovation (both rural and urban) by: 

(a) making an adequate provision of land to meet identified need; and, 

(b) making provision for the business and employment developmental needs of 

indigenous /new employers, particularly in terms of hard & soft infrastructural 

requirements (including telecommunications/ICT); and, 

(c) making provision for the infrastructural requirements associated with the 

delivery of new homes particularly in terms of hard & soft infrastructural 

requirements (including foul and surface water); and, 

(d) adhering to the principles of sustainable development and social inclusion in 

terms of the location of new development. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses. It is considered that a more permissive planning regime 

will provide opportunities to increase employment opportunities. 

6.1.13 SO12: To promote and develop sustainable & high quality all year round tourism 

related initiatives. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses.  It is considered that a more permissive planning 

regime will provide opportunities to increase visitor economy related opportunities.  

 

Tudalen 60



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

17 

6.1.14 SO13: To assist with the development and management of safe and vibrant places 

& spaces across the County. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse living town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of 

the area. 

6.1.15 SO14: To assist with the delivery and management of mixed & sustainable 

communities by: 

(a) promoting safe, vibrant and socially interactive places; and, 

(b) promoting the utilisation of local services and produce whenever possible. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse living town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of 

the area. 

LDP – Selected/Relevant Strategic Policies  

6.1.16 SP1: Sustainable Places and Spaces       

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of the 

area. By concentrating upon town centre appropriate uses, which are accessible to 

pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to 

promote sustainable development. 

6.1.17 SP2: Climate Change         

Tudalen 61



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

18 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will promote the re use of existing buildings (including 

but not exclusively vacant buildings). In relation to flood risk, the LDO area is not impacted 

upon by Flood Zones C1 or C2 as identified on the Development Advice Map.  

6.1.18 SP3: Sustainable Distribution- Settlement Framework     

Expected impact of LDO: The local and regional importance of Ammanford within the LDP 

is recognised given its classification as a Growth Area. The LDO will be consistent with 

this classification in seeking to facilitate a vibrant town centre.  

6.1.19 SP5: Housing          

Expected impact of LDO: By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area. The LDO will not create any new buildings, but it will encourage 

appropriate conversions in the town centre, thus contributing to the housing supply.  

6.1.20 SP6: Affordable Housing         

Expected impact of LDO:  By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area, including affordable housing. 

6.1.21 SP8: Retail           

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Ammanford as a principal centre. It is hoped that a more permissive 

planning regime will help ensure its continued attractiveness as a destination with a strong 

retail offer.   

6.1.22 SP9: Transportation          

Tudalen 62



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

19 

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating commercial uses in the town centre, which is 

accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with 

efforts to promote sustainable development. 

6.1.23 SP13: Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment  

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment. Anyone wishing to make 

alterations to a listed building would still require the relevant consent. 

6.1.24 SP14: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment    

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to the Habitats Regulations, the LDO has been subject to 

Test of Likely Significant Effect. 

6.1.25 SP15: Tourism and the Visitor Economy       

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Ammanford in the tourism hierarchy. It is hoped that a more 

permissive planning regime will help provide opportunities in relation to the visitor 

economy.  

6.1.26 SP16:  Community Facilities         

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may 

provide opportunities as part of a living town centre environment.  

6.1.27 SP17: Infrastructure          

Tudalen 63



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

20 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is accompanied 

by appropriate evidence.  

LDP –Relevant Area Wide Policies   

6.1.28 GP1: Sustainability and High-Quality Design 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment. A more permissive 

planning regime can however assist in countering instances of vacant units and dead 

spaces with a view to enabling a more vibrant street scene with active frontages.  

6.1.29 GP3: Planning Obligations  

Expected impact of LDO: Permitted uses will not be required to make financial 

contributions through current planning obligation provisions. Developments may however 

make a voluntary contribution as appropriate. However, any future implementation of a 

CIL charging regime may result in a requirement for contributions to be sought.  

6.1.30 GP4: Infrastructure and New Development  

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is accompanied 

by appropriate evidence.  

6.1.31 RT1:  Retailing Hierarchy        

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Ammanford as a principal centre. It is recognised within this 

statement of reasons and as supported by evidence that Ammanford Town Centre 

Tudalen 64



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

21 

currently exhibits signs of decline as a result of Covid-19.  It is considered at this point 

that the Town Centre requires specific consideration and policy intervention to address 

this decline and to meet the Welsh Government response in relation to the future of town 

centres. It is hoped that a more permissive planning regime will help ensure its continued 

attractiveness as a destination with a strong retail offer. 

6.1.32 RT2: Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Primary Retail Frontage  

Expected impact of LDO: The policy is intended to resist any further over-concentration 

of non-retail (non-A1) uses in the Primary Retail Frontages.  The Primary Retail Frontage 

confirms that the principle function should be retail. The policy also states that proposals 

involving the change of use and / or re-development of a ground floor frontage to 

residential are not considered compatible with a ‘town centre’ location. Reference is 

however made to Section 3 of this Statement of Reasons (Policy Justification). 

Furthermore, paragraph 6.4.3 of the LDP written statement states that: “Whilst shopping 

will be expected to continue as the principal activity in town centres, it is only one of the 

factors which contribute to their wellbeing.  It is evident that retail policies cannot be 

divorced from the broader functions of the larger towns as centres for other services and 

facilities, including food and drink establishments (cafes, restaurants, public houses, etc.) 

and commercial leisure developments.  A diversity of uses in town centres assists in 

promoting their continued viability and, particularly with regard to leisure uses, contributes 

to the vitality of a successful evening economy”.  This is particularly pertinent in respect 

of Ammanford Town Centre with the challenges currently being exhibited. Paragraph 

6.4.19 of the LDP written statement outlines that: “As part of the monitoring and review 

process, the Council will undertake an annual survey of uses within the identified town 

centres including the Primary Retail Frontages.  The survey will not only look at the nature 

of occupants but also the levels of vacancy which may occur.  The survey together with 

future updates of the retail study will inform policy updates and supplementary guidance 

Tudalen 65



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

22 

emerging from any changes in town centre conditions.” In this respect, the 2020 

Carmarthenshire Town Centre Audit highlights the challenges in relation to vacancy etc 

particularly in relation to the September 2020 update, being exhibited within certain parts 

of the Town Centre. The introduction of the LDO will mean that the potential conflict 

between the LPA and a proponent of non-A1 use within Ammanford Town Centre will be 

removed, subject to the proposal meeting the requirements of the LDO. It should be noted 

that the LDO does not permit changes of use of ground floor units to residential. It is also 

recognised that the designation of the LDO reflects the emphasis within Planning Policy 

Wales on the future of town centres. 

6.1.33 RT3: Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Secondary Retail Frontage  

Expected impact of LDO: Whilst the policy recognises the importance of a strong retail 

element and seeks to control the extent of non-retail uses to protect the general retail 

character of central streets and maintain continuity of shopping frontages, it does also 

acknowledge the contribution that a complementary retail, leisure and business offer can 

make in increasing the overall attractiveness of the town centre.  The introduction of the 

LDO will mean that the requirement to provide a policy justification and/or challenging the 

LPA’s position within the planning application process will not be required as the process 

would be streamlined and simplified.  

6.1.34 RT4:  Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Town Centre Zone   

Expected impact of LDO: The policy creates opportunities for the introduction of beneficial 

economic commercial uses to properties which may otherwise become rundown or 

vacant.  It permits the change of use or redevelopment of shops to other appropriate town 

centre uses within these areas. In this regard, it demonstrates synergy to the objectives 

of the LDO within the context of Ammanford Town Centre. It should be noted that the 

LDO does not impact upon those areas covered by this policy. 

Tudalen 66



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

23 

6.1.35 EP1: Water Quality and Resources, EP2: Pollution and EP3: Sustainable Drainage 

6.1.35.1 Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; 

therefore, it will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is 

supported by appropriate evidence. For the purposes of the Habitats Regulations, a Test 

of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) has been undertaken by the Local Planning Authority.  

6.1.35.2 In relation to surface water, those units within the LDO Area are already linked 

to the sewer/surface water system.  

6.1.35.3 Reference should be made to the Procedural Notification process which will 

ensure that relevant parties (e.g. Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water) 

are informed of certificates of conformity issued. 

  

Tudalen 67



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

24 

7.0 Conditions  

Please refer to the LDO itself – section 4 

 

Tudalen 68



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

25 

8.0 Notes  

Refer to the LDO itself – section 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 69



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

26 

 

9.0 Compliance  

Refer to the LDO itself – section 6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 70



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

27 

 

 

10.0 Results and monitoring  

In addition to reviewing applications for Certificates of Conformity, Carmarthenshire 

County Council will monitor vacancy levels in ground-floor units and footfall. The findings 

of such research will be presented in annual monitoring reports as part of the statutory 

LDP Monitoring Process. Consideration is also being given to introducing a periodic 

monitoring regime within the Town Centre.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 71



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

28 

 

 

 

11.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy  

In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, Community 

Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in accordance with 

current Council procedures.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 72



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

29 

 

 

 

12.0 Risk Assessment  

The below sets out some of the key issues that are considered to be worthy of review:  

 

 Democratic control and the role of Elected Members and the Community; 

 Officer workload, particularly in terms of monitoring and compliance; 

 How would bodies that are ordinarily be notified/consulted through the planning 

application process be engaged?; 

 Loss of Planning application fees; 

 Planning Obligations; 

 Legal and Financial matters arising from any future LDO revocation; 

 Residential amenity; 

 The integrity of the historic environment; 

 Parking; 

 Regulatory matters;  

 Flood Risk. 

12.1 It is considered that the LDO may ultimately reduce workload in development 

management, cutting out routine work within the defined LDO area. Furthermore, in 

relation to monitoring, there are established mechanisms available and a data capture 

system has been set up by the Data Management Officer within Planning Services.  

 

12.2 A notification system whereby key consultees (e.g. Town/Rural Councils, Dwr Cymru 

or Natural Resources Wales) are informed of LDO proposals has been established by the 

Tudalen 73



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

30 

Council. This reflects the fact that such bodies would ordinarily be notified/consulted 

through the planning application process. 

 

12.3 Any LDOs will result in a reduced income from planning applications fees, as 

developers only need to submit a pre-notification, for which they pay the Council a 

nominal fee for administrative purposes.  It is considered however that the scope and 

extent of the impact would be potentially minor in income terms (based on the potential 

number of applications likely to be received).  Whilst not quantifiable the impact in income 

terms will be negated through regeneration benefits within the town centre.  

 

12.4 It should be noted that as part of the democratic reporting process, the Council has 

been afforded the opportunity to review a range of pertinent considerations, particularly 

in terms of resource and legal implications.  

 

12.5 An LDO may be revoked or revised at any time by the LPA on its own initiative.  The 

Welsh Government also has reserve powers to direct an LPA to revoke an LDO or 

prepare a revision of it.  Where an LPA revokes an LDO the authority must:-  

 

  Publish on their website a statement that the LDO has been revoked  

  Give notice of the revocation by local advertisement.  This is a requirement to 

publish the notice in as many newspapers as necessary to secure that the press 

coverage (taken as a whole) extends to the whole of the area to which the LDO 

relates, and  

  Give written notice of the revocation to every person whom the authority consulted 

before the making of the order.   

 

Tudalen 74



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

31 

12.6 Section 189 of the Planning Act 2008 amends Sections 107 and 108 of Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, which provide for compensation where a development order 

or local development order is withdrawn.  In summary, where planning permission granted 

by a LDO is withdrawn, there will be no entitlement to compensation where notice of the 

withdrawal is published not less than 12 months or more than the prescribed period (24 

months) before the withdrawal takes effect.  

 

12.7 If development is started before the notice is published, compensation will be 

available unless the order in question contains provision permitting the completion of 

development.  The reform may therefore offer LPAs reassurance, through providing 

additional flexibility when considering the revision or withdrawal of LDO permissions, 

although the Welsh Government considers that an LPA would only rarely need to do this 

where the merits and effect of an LDO have been properly considered during its 

preparation. 

12.8 Residential amenity is an important consideration because there are already 

people residing within the LDO area. There are separate legislative frameworks that seek 

to can control various threats to residential amenity, including noise and odour.  

12.9 In relation to parking, the Town Centre is well served by public transport and 

pedestrian networks; therefore, it is considered unlikely that the LDO will substantially 

increase demand for off- and on-street parking.  Occupants of new dwellings will not be 

entitled to parking permits.  

12.10  The LDO does not allow developers to display advertisements on, or make 

external alterations to, any building in the town centre.  In order to ensure the continuing 

protection of the built heritage, development which would affect a listed building is also 

excluded from the scope of LDOs.   

Tudalen 75



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

32 

12.11 In relation to flooding, the LDO area is not impacted upon by C1 or C2 flood zones, 

consequently there are no impacts in relation to Highly Vulnerable Developments (HVD).  

HVD includes all residential premises (use classes C1 and C3), public buildings (often 

use class D1) and, in some cases, leisure-related businesses (use class D2).  

 

12.12 In regulatory terms, the LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact 

Assessment Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not 

required. A Test of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats 

Regulations has concluded that the LDO will have no significant effect (alone or in 

combination) with a European Site or a European Offshore Marine Site. The LDO has 

also been screened as part of the Equalities Impact Assessment process. The LDO does 

not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA-

SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an elaboration upon the provisions of the 

Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 — 2021(Adopted December 2014). The 

LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA along with a Plan level Habitats Regulations 

Assessment.  

Tudalen 76



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

33 

13.0 Plan of the LDO Area  

As per appendix to this report   

Tudalen 77



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

34 

14.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area 

As per appendix to this report   

Tudalen 78



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

35 

15.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) – for LDO Area 

As per appendix to this report  

Tudalen 79



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

36 

Notes  

i) The above plan is based on the Development Advice Maps (DAMs) October 2020.  

ii) The DAMs are reviewed periodically and therefore may change during the lifetime of 

the LDO. Reference should be made to Natural Resources Wales’ website in this regard. 

  

Tudalen 80



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

37 

16.0 Key Contacts 

Refer to section 11 of the LDO   

Tudalen 81



 

Ammanford Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting – Executive Board – November 2020 

38 

ANNEX 

Notification Procedure  

The LDO process is subject to a notification procedure where key stakeholders are 

advised of applications. This ensures that “mitigation” is built into the LDO process 

given the strong emphasis on collaboration / engagement and monitoring. 

Those notification stakeholders can include: 

 Ammanford Town Council; 

 Elected Members for Ammanford Ward;  

 Ammanford Chamber of Trade; 

 Natural Resources Wales; 

 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water; 

 Western Power National grid (plant protection); 

 Wales and West Utilities;  

 Development Management (Planning) Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Licensing Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Building Regulations Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Environmental Health Carmarthenshire County Council. 

 Highways & Planning Liaison Officer – Carmarthenshire County Council. 

 

Tudalen 82



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

1 

 

 

CARMARTHEN TOWN CENTRE 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER  

Contents  

1.0 Overview  

2.0 Lifetime of the LDO 

3.0 Permitted Uses  

4.0 Conditions  

5.0 Notes  

6.0 Compliance  

7.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy 

8.0 Plan of the LDO Area (appended to this report to Executive Board)  

9.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area (appended to this report to 

Executive Board) 

10.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area (appended to this report to 

Executive Board) 

11.0 Key Contacts  

  

Tudalen 83



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

2 

1.0 Overview  

1.1 A Local Planning Authority (LPA) may use an LDO to grant blanket planning 

permission for non-contentious, though not necessarily minor, forms of “development” 

/ changes in use within a defined spatial area. Reference should also be made to the 

Statement of Reasons accompanying this LDO. It is advised that before submitting an 

application, interested parties liaise with Planning Services to scope out any potential 

issues and requirements and also confirm “validation” requirements. Reference is also 

made to the LDO Application Form in this respect. 

 

1.2 The Permitted Uses are set out in Section 3. The Area is shown in Section 8. (for 

the purposes of the report to Executive Board – this is provided as an Appendix). 

 

1.3 The LDO grants conditional planning permission for specified uses in ground and 

upper-floor units. It is envisaged that the LDO, in permitting a wide range of compatible 

uses, will help to increase occupancy levels and footfall in the town centre. The LDO 

does not grant approval for external works. Proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council, irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity has been issued. Listed Buildings are not applicable to the 

LDO. A Certificate of Conformity will last for 3 years and should the proposal not 

commence before the end of that period then it will lapse. 

  

 

 

Tudalen 84



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

3 

1.4 After eighteen months, the LDO will be considered a success if two or more of the 

following changes have occurred in the LDO area: 

 Five or more vacant ground-floor units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity (source: Forward Planning) ;  

 Annual footfall has increased within the LDO area (source: Council 

Regeneration Department footfall counters);  

 The number of vacant ground-floor units has decreased within the LDO area 

(source: Forward Planning ); 

 Three or more upper floor vacant units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity– this includes flats and residential uses – use class C3 - (source: 

Forward Planning).  

1.5 The LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not required. A 

Test of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats Regulations 

has concluded that the LDO will have no significant effect (alone or in combination) 

with a European Site or a European Offshore Marine Site. The LDO has also been 

screened as part of the Equalities Impact Assessment process. 

1.6 The LDO does not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SA-SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an 

elaboration upon the provisions of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 

— 2021(Adopted December 2014). The LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA 

along with a Plan level Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

 

Tudalen 85



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

4 

2.0 Lifetime of the LDO  

2.1 The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the 

adoption of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to 

ongoing review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of 

the LDO. 

2.2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this eighteen month period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no 

new changes of use will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning 

permission. Towards the end of the eighteen month period, Carmarthenshire County 

Council will assess the impact of the LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO 

with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO with new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the 

LDO.  

Tudalen 86



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

5 

3.0 Permitted Uses  

3.1 The following table outlines the relevant use classes which will be permitted or 

otherwise through the LDO and within its defined spatial area. 

  

Use Class  Ground Floor  
Other Floors 
(Excluding basements) 

A1 Shops  Yes Yes 

A2 Financial and 
Professional Services  Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink 
Restaurants and Cafes  Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink 
Drinking establishments 
(but not night clubs)  Yes Yes 

A3 Food and Drink 
Hot food takeaways  Yes No 

B1 Business (offices other 
than those within A2)  No Yes 

C1 Hotels, boarding 
houses and guest houses  No Yes 

C3 Dwellings (residential 
incl. flats)  No Yes 

D1Non-residential 
institutions (Note - LDO 
excludes Law Courts, 
Church Halls and Libraries)  Yes Yes 

D2 Assembly and leisure 
buildings (Note LDO only 
permits gymnasiums and 
area for indoor sports or 
recreations - except for 
motor sports, or where 
firearms are used)  Yes Yes 

Other (specified sui) 
Launderettes and taxi 
businesses only  Yes Yes 

 

Further information in relation to the Use Class Order can be viewed through the following link: 

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/wales_en/info/3/common_projects/6/change_of_use  

 

 

 

Tudalen 87

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/wales_en/info/3/common_projects/6/change_of_use


Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

6 

4.0 Conditions  

General  

1. No change of use permitted by the LDO shall commence until an application for a 

Certificate of Conformity has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority (LPA). In all circumstances, and irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity is issued, proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council. 

Reason: To ensure that proposed changes of use comply with the terms of the 

Local Development Order.  

2. With reference to Planning Policy Wales Technical Advice Note 15 (TAN15): 

Development and Flood Risk (or any document that updates or replaces it during the 

course of the LDO), no change in use to highly vulnerable development (as defined in 

TAN 15) is permitted in any ground-floor unit located in Development Advice Map Zone 

C2.  

Reason: To accord with the provisions of national planning policy in the form of 

TAN 15.  

3. Reference is made to the provisions of TAN 15 in this respect the LDO area is not 

located within Flood Zones C1 or C2 as defined on the DAMs.  Reference is also made 

to Note 11 set out within Section 5 of this LDO.  

Reason: To ensure that no development permitted by the LDO has unacceptable 

flooding consequences.  

 

 

Tudalen 88



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

7 

Removal of permitted-development rights  

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any Order revoking or re-

enacting that Order), no development within Schedule 2, Part 40, Classes A, B, C, D, 

E, F, G, H or I may be carried out at any dwelling house (as defined in Welsh Statutory 

Instrument 2009 2193(W.185)) created under the LDO without the prior written 

permission of the LPA.  

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory form of development takes place. 

Residential Proposals  

5. No conversion scheme implemented under the terms of the LDO, whether in 

isolation or in combination with another scheme (regardless of ownership), may create 

an inappropriate concentration of single bedroom units.   

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

Units of multiple occupation  

6. No conversion scheme implemented under the terms of the LDO, whether in 

isolation or in combination with another scheme (regardless of ownership), will be 

considered appropriate where it results in the creation of a unit of multiple occupation 

(i.e C4 use for small HMO or sui generis for large HMO). 

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

 

 

Tudalen 89



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

8 

Licensable Activity 

7. Where applicable, non-planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to 

commencement of change of use. Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and 

the requirement to attain Commencement Notice Approval from the Council. The 

contractor/developer will need to ensure that licensing approval is sought prior to any 

works commencing on site. Contact Tel: 01267 234567, email 

publicprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Reason: To ensure compliance with legislative provisions.   

Street Scene  

8. Existing ground-floor windows and shop fronts must not be obscured, either 

internally or externally, by paint, whitewash, film, curtains or any other opaque 

material.  

Reason: To maintain the commercial character and appearance of the Town 

Centre.  

Public Amenity 

9. Where required and requested; a detailed Risk Assessment (the scope of which 

must be agreed with the Homes and Safer Communities team (HSC)) should be 

submitted to, and approved by the HSC prior to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 

issuing a commencement notice approval. The Risk Assessment should 

assess/predict the likely impact of the proposed development as a whole on the 

existing commercial and residential properties within the area and/or predict the likely 

impact of existing commercial and residential properties on the proposed 

development. Where necessary the risk assessment shall identify the required 

Tudalen 90



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

9 

mitigation in the form of a Management Plan. The change of use shall thereafter be 

carried out in accordance with any approved Management Plan.  

Reason: In the interests of protecting the amenity of people using the 

surrounding area. 

Building Regulations  

10. Non planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to commencement of 

change of use.  The contractor/developer will need to ensure that Local Authority 

Building Control (LABC) approval is sought prior to any works commencing on site. 

Contact Tel: 01267 246044 email building.control@carmarthenshire.gov.uk. 

Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and the requirement to attain 

Commencement Notice Approval from the Council.   

Reason: To ensure compliance with legislative provisions.   

Lettings Policy 

11. Where appropriate, residential uses permitted by the LDO will be required to 

adhere to requirements in relation to any County Council Lettings Policy. Advice 

should be sought from the relevant department. 

Reason: To allow the opportunity for the creation of suitable mix of unit sizes 

and tenure mix within a living town centre environment.   

Other Regulatory Regimes  

12. Non planning related requirements must be satisfied prior to commencement of 

change of use.  Reference is made to Condition 1 of this LDO and the requirement to 

attain Commencement Notice Approval from the Council.   

Reason: To protect the amenities of persons in neighbouring properties. 

Tudalen 91



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

10 

Drainage Strategy 

13 No change of use shall commence where it will result in the hydraulic overload of 

the public sewerage system. Where required and requested; a drainage strategy 

should be submitted to, and approved by, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water.   

Reason:  To enable the implementation of the LDO drainage strategy   

Assessment of Assets  

14. No change of use shall commence where it will result in the compromising of the 

integrity of any public sewer and/or water main assets within and/or adjacent to the 

site. Where required and requested; an assessment should be submitted to, and 

approved by, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water which clarifies any impact and where 

necessary any mitigation.    

Reason:  To support the implementation of the LDO Drainage Strategy  

  

Tudalen 92



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

11 

5.0 Notes  

1. The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the adoption 

of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to ongoing 

review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of the LDO. 

2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this eighteen month period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no 

new changes of use will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning 

permission. Towards the end of the eighteen month period, Carmarthenshire County 

Council will assess the impact of the LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO 

with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO with new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the 

LDO.  

3. The LDO does not grant planning permission for any “development” (as defined in 

Part III, Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) except the changes 

of use described in section 3. 

4. In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in 

accordance with current Council procedures.  

5. The LDO does not remove any requirement for advertisement or listed-building 

consent.  

6. The LDO does not remove any requirement for consent under non-planning 

regulations, such as those relating to licensing, environmental health and building 

control.  

 

Tudalen 93



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

12 

7. The LDO applies only to the area indicated on the LDO plan (see section 8 

appended to this report for Executive Board).  

8. Occupiers of dwellings created under the terms of the LDO will not be entitled to 

council parking permits.  

9. The LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not required. (this 

will be confirmed post Executive Board). 

10. The TAN 15 Development Advice Map may be viewed on the Natural Resources 

Wales website. Reference is also made to the Plan set out in Section 10 (appended 

to the Executive Board report) 

11. An Advisory note in relation to Flood Risk management may be appended to 

Certificates of Conformity. 

12. An Advisory note in relation to Ecology may be appended to Certificates of 

Conformity. 

13. Based on the number of existing units within the Project site, it is unlikely that more 

than 180 residential conversions could be physically delivered. Should a figure of 100 

Commencement Notice Approvals for residential units be reached within the eighteen 

month period lifetime, then a moratorium will be placed on the LDO and it will be 

reviewed with the outcomes reported to full Council. Such a review will be informed by 

the input of the notification stakeholders (including NRW and DCWW). 

14. An Advisory note in relation to the Built Historic Environment may be appended to 

Certificates of Conformity. 

 

Tudalen 94



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

13 

6.0 Compliance  

Carmarthenshire County Council will monitor changes of use within the Town centre 

and, when appropriate, may take enforcement action against unauthorised 

development, including any uses that operate in breach of the conditions.  

  

Tudalen 95



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

14 

7.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy  

In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in 

accordance with current Council procedures.  

  

Tudalen 96



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

15 

8.0 Plan of the LDO Area (see Appendix)  

 

  

Tudalen 97



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

16 

9.0 Plan of listed buildings and Conservation Area (see Appendix) 

  

Tudalen 98



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

17 

10.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area (see Appendix) 

  

Tudalen 99



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

18 

Notes  

i) The above Plan is based on the Development Advice Maps (DAMs) October 2020. 

ii) The DAMs are reviewed periodically and therefore may change during the lifetime 

of the LDO. Reference should be made to Natural Resources Wales’ website in this 

regard. 

 

  

Tudalen 100



Carmarthen  Town Centre Draft Local Development Order 
Version for Reporting  Executive Board - November 2020 

19 

11.0 Key Contacts 

1 Development Management (planning applications) – Llandeilo Office – TBC 

planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

2 Forward Planning – 01267 228818 forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

3 Public Protection 01267 234567 publicprotection@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

4 Building Control 01267 246044 building.control@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 101



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



T
udalen 103



T
udalen 104



T
udalen 105



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
1 

Carmarthen Town Centre 

Draft Local Development Order (for 

Reporting) 
 

 

Statement of Reasons  

Tudalen 107



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
2 

 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT ORDER: CARMARTHEN TOWN CENTRE 

STATEMENT OF REASONS  

CONTENTS  

1.0 Legislation and Policy  

2.0 Overview  

3.0 Justification for the creation of the Carmarthen Town Centre LDO  

4.0 Lifetime of the LDO 

5.0 Permitted Uses (refer to the LDO itself) 

6.0 Policy context and expected impact  

7.0 Conditions (refer to the LDO itself) 

8.0 Notes (refer to the LDO itself) 

9.0 Compliance  

10.0 Results and Monitoring 

11.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy 

12.0 Risk Assessment  

13.0 Plan of the LDO Area (see appendix) 

14.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area (see appendix) 

15.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) for LDO Area (see appendix) 

16.0 Key Contacts (refer to the LDO itself) 

 

ANNEX 

Notification Procedure  

  

 

  

Tudalen 108



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
3 

1.0 Legislation and policy 

1.1 Local Planning Authorities may issue a Local Development Order (LDO) under section 

61 (A, B, C and D) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as inserted by section 

40(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and amended by sections 188 

and 238 and Schedule 13 of the Planning Act 2008. This power became effective in Wales 

on 30 April 2012.  

1.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 state that permission granted 

by a LDO will constitute “planning permission” (regulation 5(3)(a)ii). As a consequence, 

an LDO may obviate the need to submit a planning application for a certain type of 

development, but it will not prevent a levy from being charged, when appropriate, under 

any prospective Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule. It should be 

noted that at the time of writing no CIL charge is in place within Carmarthenshire. 

1.3 Welsh Government Circular 003/2012 states that an LDO may not grant planning 

permission for development that would:  

a) Have a significant effect on a European Site or a European Offshore Marine 

Site (either alone or in combination with other projects) unless the development 

is connected to, or necessary for, the management of the site;  

b) Constitute “Schedule 1 development” or “Schedule 2 development” within 

the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 1999; or  

c) Affect a listed building.  

 

 

Tudalen 109



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
4 

1.4 In relation to point b) above, reference is made to the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017.  These supersede the 

1999 and 2016 Regulations and specifically make provision for Local Development 

Orders to grant planning permission for Schedule 2 EIA development in certain 

circumstances.  In this respect the Schedule 2 EIA screening thresholds for ‘Urban 

Development Projects’ increased from 0.5ha to: 

 1ha if the development does not include housing; or 

 The construction of over 150 new houses; or 

 An overall development area exceeding 5ha. 

1.5 The LDO will be screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations, to consider whether an Environmental Statement is not required. A Test of 

Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats Regulations will also be 

undertaken ahead of adoption. The LDO has also been screened as part of the Equalities 

Impact Assessment process. 

1.6 The LDO does not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SA-SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an elaboration upon the 

provisions of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 — 2021(Adopted 

December 2014). The LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA along with a Plan level 

Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

Tudalen 110



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
5 

2.0 Overview  

2.1 A Local Planning Authority (LPA) may use a LDO to grant blanket planning permission 

for non-contentious, though not necessarily minor, forms of “development” / changes in 

use within a defined spatial area. It is advised that before submitting an application, 

interested parties liaise with Planning Services to scope out any potential issues and 

requirements and also confirm “validation” requirements. Reference is also made to the 

LDO Application Form in this respect. 

2.2 The Carmarthen LDO area is shown on the map in Section 13 (as an appendix for 

Executive Board).  

2.3 The LDO grants conditional planning permission for specified uses in ground and 

upper-floor units.  It is envisaged that the LDO, in permitting a wide range of compatible 

uses, will help to increase occupancy levels and footfall in the town centre. The LDO does 

not grant approval for external works. Proposals cannot commence until a 

Commencement Notice Approval is issued by the Council, irrespective of whether a 

Certificate of Conformity has been issued.  Listed Buildings are not applicable to the LDO. 

A Certificate of Conformity will last for 3 years and should the proposal not commence 

before the end of that period then it will lapse. 

2.4 The LDO permits only certain changes of use (as listed in the LDO) within the area 

identified on the Plan - provided as an appendix for Executive Board).  

2.5 In order to protect the living conditions of existing and future residents in the town 

centre, every applicant must ensure that they satisfy the pertinent provisions within the 

relevant legislation.  For example, building regulations and environmental health & public 

protection. For reference, a list of key contacts is provided in the LDO. 

 

Tudalen 111



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
6 

2.6 At the end of its period, the LDO will be considered a success if two or more of the 

following changes have occurred in the LDO area: 

 Five or more vacant ground-floor units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity (source: Forward Planning);  

 Annual footfall has increased within the LDO area (source: Council Regeneration 

Department footfall counters);  

 The number of vacant ground-floor units has decreased within the LDO area 

(source: Forward Planning); 

 Three or more upper floor vacant units have been issued with Certificates of 

Conformity this includes flats and residential uses – use class C3 - (source: 

Forward Planning).  

Tudalen 112



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
7 

3.0 Justification for the creation of the Carmarthen Town Centre LDO  

3.1 Where a retail centre is demonstrating signs of decline, national planning policy 

makes provision for that decline to be managed and/or for action to be taken to regenerate 

a centre. In such circumstances an LDO may (as part of a collective approach) contribute 

to local economic development and regeneration, helping make places more attractive 

and more competitive, helping in incentivising development and reducing vacancy rates.  

The impact associated with the Covid-19 pandemic and the economic impact is 

particularly relevant in this regard and there is clear evidence that Carmarthen town 

centre faces challenges arising from what are unprecedented circumstances.  Whilst this 

may not impact wholly across the wider town centre, there are areas where implications  

on the retail sector will be more prevalent and raise specific issues in relation to 

prospective long-term vacancies. 

3.2 The Welsh Government in Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 

Resilient and Brighter Futures - Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery clearly 

identified the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown on our retail and commercial centres.  

The impact on footfall in town centre across Wales has witnessed them experiencing 

declining visitors, except for those people shopping for essential items with the 

comparison retail sector notably impacted.  In this respect during the lock down months 

supermarkets and convenience retailers became the few shops still trading.  All of this 

was at a time when components of the retail sector and certain town centres were 

already experiencing difficulties.  

3.3 Building Better Places identifies that: “The economic consequences have meant that 

many retailers are struggling financially, and this will lead to higher vacancy rates in all 

of our commercial centres.  Online competition to our town centre retailers was strong 

before the crisis; this situation will become more apparent as more retailers increase 

Tudalen 113



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
8 

their online presence and more people have become used to doing the majority of their 

non-essential shopping online.”   

3.4 There is a recognition that retail and commercial centres are hubs of social and 

economic activity and that their function extends beyond retail providing a focal point for 

a diverse range of services and cultural activities/functions.  These functions are often 

equally important in supporting the needs of local communities.  

3.5 The WG in recognising the central role of retail and commercial centres state that 

they “should become places where a variety of retail, employment, commercial, 

community, leisure, health and public sector uses come together in a hub of activity to 

make them viable as go-to destinations once more.  Flexible, local co-working spaces 

could also be a crucial new element to increase space to work.  Residential uses are 

also key to the vitality of centres, provided that they do not curtail the commercial 

activities which take place and soundscapes are considered.”   In this respect it is 

recognised that residential particularly on upper floors provides an added dynamic in 

creating ‘living’ town centres. 

3.6 Indeed, as the challenges to respond to the impact of Covid-19 becomes clear and 

as town centres reshape themselves, this would suggest that traditional retailing uses 

will not be as prevalent and the demand for new retail space will lessen for the 

foreseeable future.   

3.7 Consequently, the WG identify that the role of primary retail areas will need to be 

reviewed in light of Covid-19, and this must be realistic recognising that retail occupiers 

will not return in the way prior to the pandemic.  This will require a review and 

reassessment of future planning policies.   

 

Tudalen 114



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
9 

3.8 Reference is drawn to the ongoing monitoring in relation to the implementation of the 

Revised LDP in the form of the Annual Monitoring Reports. In this respect specific regard 

should be had to the Carmarthenshire Town Centre Retail Audit and the recently 

published 2020 update. 

3.9 The Town Centre Retail Audit 2020 update conducted as part of ongoing LDP policy 

monitoring indicates that within the Retail Core 75.7% of units are occupied as A1 retail 

(based on retail frontage).  However, whilst this is a healthy indication of retail 

occupancy, it is accompanied by a 12% retail vacancy rate with a further 5.4% in non-

retail use (A2 and A3).     

3.10 The Retail Frontage, which represents the second-tier categorisation of retail 

streets reflects the greater flexibility attached to the scale of non-retail units within this 

area.  This demonstrates a greater mix of use types with some 59% occupied by A1 

retail with a 11% vacancy rate, and 4.7% vacancy in non-retail (A2 and A3). 

3.11 The remainder of the wider town centre designation within the LDP contains a 

lower proportion of A1 retail (9.7%) with non-retail spread across A2, A3 and other uses 

with an 8% vacancy rate. 

3.12 The total vacancy rate for Carmarthen Town Centre currently sits at 19.5% Primary 

Retail Frontage, 17.3% Secondary Retail Frontage and 11.9% for the wider town 

(excluding Frontage and Core).  In total the vacancy rate for Carmarthen Town Centre 

is 15.4% (including core & secondary retail, all use classes) 

3.13 When comparing the pre lockdown data with the post lockdown data there has 

been a clear increase in vacancies in some areas.  The primary retail frontage 

vacancies rate was at 12.3% pre lockdown but is at 19.5% post lockdown representing 

Tudalen 115



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
10 

an increase of 7.2% percentage points.  This is a considerable increase in a relatively 

short amount of time and reflects the specific challenges within the retail sector.  

3.14 The Secondary Retail Frontage vacancy rates have also increased over the 

lockdown period. Pre-lockdown the vacancy rate was at 11.4% however, post lockdown 

this has increased to 17.3%. A rise of 5.9 percentage points.  

3.15 The overall percentage for vacant retail units in Carmarthen pre lockdown was 

11%, this has now increased over the lockdown period to 15.4%. This is a clear 

indicator of the effect COVID has had on Carmarthen’s Town Centre.  It also highlights 

the need for appropriate intervention to ensure the town is resilient to any future and 

ongoing effects of Covid-19 and that it reflects to the changing pattern of activities within 

Town Centres within Town Centres as mirrored in National Planning policy. 

3.16 National Planning Policy reflects that in some circumstances where there has been 

an over emphasis on A1 uses these may undermine a centre’s prospects, with potential 

consequences such as higher vacancy rates. In such circumstances the role of uses other 

than A1 (retail) in increasing diversity and reducing vacancy may be considered. This may 

be achieved through a rationalising of boundaries, allowing appropriate changes of use 

whilst focusing A1 (retail) uses in a more concentrated area.   

3.17 In this context an LDO can facilitate changes of use, alterations, extensions etc, 

replacing many minor planning applications which are routinely approved. LDOs can be 

particularly effective when combined with other regeneration proposals to bring about 

more comprehensive improvements to centres, including as part of environmental and 

infrastructure enhancements. To this end, the LDO can be seen as part of a wider 

package of policy interventions in the Town.  Reference is also made to the work being 

undertaken through the town forum. 

Tudalen 116



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
11 

3.18 Whilst the LDP sets a strong policy direction for retail within a Carmarthenshire, the 

challenges facing Carmarthen in light of Covid – 19 and in advance of the adoption of the 

Revised LDP requires specific consideration.  The opportunities exist to co-ordinate with 

and develop upon the work being undertaken through the town forum and the broader 

regeneration proposals which are seeking to address matters surrounding the challenges 

faced by our town centres and its environs, presents an opportune time evaluate options.  

There is potential to review and develop an effective strategy to promote uses to 

complement the town centre and out of town retail offer.  In this respect it should not be 

predicated on an abandonment of the town centres overall retail focus, but the 

consideration of a flexible approach to complement activities which support the centres 

vitality and viability. The platform for engagement, together with a direct policy 

intervention, is also confirmed by the establishment of the Carmarthen Business 

Improvement District (BID).  

3.19 For the time being, developers who wish to change the use of a town centre unit 

must operate within the legislative and policy parameters. This means that most changes 

of use, no matter how desirable, require planning permission. The practice of allowing a 

valuable unit to remain empty for up to eight weeks while a planning application is 

processed is inimical to economic growth particularly within the context of the challenges 

being faced through Covid-19.  By creating a more permissive planning regime in the 

town centre, the LDO will seek to promote a living town centre environment.  

3.20 In scoping and drafting this LDO it was considered necessary to clearly establish its 

purpose, scope and extent linking into the regeneration and other objectives.   

 

  

Tudalen 117



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
12 

4.0 Lifetime of the LDO  

4.1 The LDO is active for a period of one and half years, or to coincide with the adoption 

of the Revised LDP from its adoption. This period will however be subject to ongoing 

review and may be extended or reduced in light of the success or failure of the LDO.  

4.2 Development that commences while the LDO is in effect may be completed and/or 

continued after this period. Once the LDO has expired, however, no new changes of use 

will be allowed under its terms without conventional planning permission. Towards the 

end of the life of the LDO, Carmarthenshire County Council will assess the impact of the 

LDO and decide whether to (i) renew the LDO with no revisions, (ii) renew the LDO with 

new terms and conditions or (iii) revoke the LDO.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 118



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
13 

5.0 Permitted Uses   

Please refer to the LDO itself – section 3 

Tudalen 119



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
14 

6.0 Policy context and expected impact  

6.1 The relevant Development Plan for Carmarthen is the Carmarthenshire LDP. To the 

extent that development plan policies are material to an application for planning 

permission, the decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless 

there are material considerations that indicate otherwise (Section 37(6) : Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

6.1.1 Given that proposals will be permitted under this LDO without the need for planning 

permission, it is important to note the LDO’s overall linkages and compliance with the 

LDP. This also confirms that a SA-SEA on the LDO is not required (see paragraph 1.5). 

This Section reviews the LDO against the 14 LDP Strategic Objectives (SO) and those 

LDP Strategic Policies (SP) of relevance. There is also commentary provided in relation 

to relevant Area Wide (AW) policies. 

LDP - Strategic Objectives  

6.1.2 SO1: To protect and enhance the diverse character, distinctiveness, safety and 

vibrancy of the County’s communities by ensuring sympathetic, sustainable, and high 

quality standards of design. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of the 

area. 

6.1.3 SO2: To ensure that the principles of spatial sustainability are upheld by: 

(a) enabling development in locations which minimise the need to travel and 

contribute towards sustainable communities and economies and respecting 

environmental limits, and 

Tudalen 120



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
15 

(b) to wherever possible encourage new development on previously developed 

land which has been suitably remediated. 

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating developmental opportunities within the town 

centre, which is accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be 

consistent with efforts to promote sustainable development.  

6.1.4 SO3: To make provision for an appropriate mix of quality homes; access to which 

will be based around the principles of sustainable socio-economic development and 

equality of opportunities. 

Expected impact of LDO: By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area as well as promoting vibrant and living town centres.  

6.1.5 SO4: To ensure that the natural, built and historic environment is safeguarded and 

enhanced, and that habitats and species are protected. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment or the natural 

environment. Anyone wishing to make alterations to a listed building would still require 

the relevant consent. 

6.1.6 SO5: To make a significant contribution towards tackling the cause and adapting to 

the effect of climate change by promoting the efficient use and safeguarding of resources. 

Expected impact of LDO: By focusing commercial uses in the town centre, which is 

accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with 

efforts to promote sustainable development. It will promote the appropriate use and/or re 

use of existing buildings (including but not exclusively vacant buildings). 

Tudalen 121



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
16 

6.1.7 SO6: To assist in widening and promoting education and skills training opportunities 

for all. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may 

provide opportunities for additional facilities.  

6.1.8 SO7: To assist in protecting and enhancing the Welsh Language and the County’s 

unique cultural identity, assets and social fabric. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may well 

generate additional opportunities and facilities for promoting the County’s special 

characteristics.  

6.1.9 SO8: To assist with widening and promoting opportunities to access community, 

leisure and recreational facilities as well as the countryside. 

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may well 

generate additional opportunities and facilities.  

6.1.10 SO9: To ensure that the principles of equal opportunities and social inclusion are 

upheld by promoting access to a high quality and diverse mix of public services, 

healthcare, shops, leisure facilities and work opportunities. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses. This would seek to encourage social and/or physical 

inclusion. 

6.1.11 SO10: To contribute to the delivery of an integrated and sustainable transport 

system that is accessible to all. 

Tudalen 122



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
17 

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating developmental opportunities within the town 

centre, which is accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be 

consistent with efforts to promote sustainable development. 

6.1.12 SO11: To encourage investment & innovation (both rural and urban) by: 

(a) making an adequate provision of land to meet identified need; and, 

(b) making provision for the business and employment developmental needs of 

indigenous /new employers, particularly in terms of hard & soft infrastructural 

requirements (including telecommunications/ICT); and, 

(c) making provision for the infrastructural requirements associated with the 

delivery of new homes particularly in terms of hard & soft infrastructural 

requirements (including foul and surface water); and, 

(d) adhering to the principles of sustainable development and social inclusion in 

terms of the location of new development. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses. It is considered that a more permissive planning regime 

will provide opportunities to increase employment opportunities. 

6.1.13 SO12: To promote and develop sustainable & high quality all year-round tourism 

related initiatives. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO is designed to encourage a mix of appropriate and 

complementary town centre uses.  It is considered that a more permissive planning 

regime will provide opportunities to increase visitor economy related opportunities.  

 

Tudalen 123



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
18 

6.1.14 SO13: To assist with the development and management of safe and vibrant places 

& spaces across the County. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse living town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of 

the area. 

6.1.15 SO14: To assist with the delivery and management of mixed & sustainable 

communities by: 

(a) promoting safe, vibrant and socially interactive places; and, 

(b) promoting the utilisation of local services and produce whenever possible. 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse living town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of 

the area. 

LDP – Selected/Relevant Strategic Policies  

6.1.16  SP1: Sustainable Places and Spaces       

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with efforts to promote a vibrant, 

safer and diverse town centre which acts as a catalyst to the wider regeneration of the 

area. By concentrating upon town centre appropriate uses, which are accessible to 

pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to 

promote sustainable development. 

6.1.17 SP2: Climate Change         

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will promote the re use of existing buildings (including 

but not exclusively vacant buildings). In relation to flood risk, the LDO area is not impacted 

Tudalen 124



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
19 

upon by Flood Zones C1 or C2 as identified on the Development Advice Map Zone C2. 

No Highly Vulnerable Development is permitted on the ground floors by the LDO. 

6.1.18 SP3: Sustainable Distribution- Settlement Framework     

Expected impact of LDO: The local and regional importance of Carmarthen within the 

LDP is recognised given its classification as a Growth Area. The LDO will be consistent 

with this classification in seeking to facilitate a vibrant town centre.  

6.1.19 SP5: Housing          

Expected impact of LDO: By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area. The LDO will not create any new buildings, but it will encourage 

appropriate conversions in the town centre, thus contributing to the housing supply.  

6.1.20 SP6: Affordable Housing         

Expected impact of LDO:  By providing opportunities for upper floor conversion to 

residential, the LDO will be consistent with efforts to provide a range and mix of homes 

across the area, including affordable housing. 

6.1.21 SP8: Retail           

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Carmarthen as a principal centre. It is hoped that a more permissive 

planning regime will help ensure its continued attractiveness as a destination with a strong 

retail offer.   

 

 

Tudalen 125



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
20 

6.1.22 SP9: Transportation          

Expected impact of LDO: By concentrating commercial uses in the town centre, which is 

accessible to pedestrians and users of public transport, the LDO will be consistent with 

efforts to promote sustainable development. 

6.1.23 SP13: Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment  

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment. Anyone wishing to make 

alterations to a listed building would still require the relevant consent. 

6.1.24 SP14: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment    

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to the Habitats Regulations, the LDO has been subject to 

Test of Likely Significant Effect. 

6.1.25 SP15: Tourism and the Visitor Economy       

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Carmarthen in the tourism hierarchy. It is hoped that a more 

permissive planning regime will help provide opportunities in relation to the visitor 

economy.  

6.1.26 SP16:  Community Facilities         

Expected impact of LDO: A more permissive planning regime in the town centre may 

provide opportunities as part of a living town centre environment.  

 

Tudalen 126



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
21 

 

6.1.27 SP17: Infrastructure          

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is accompanied 

by appropriate evidence.  

LDP –Relevant Area Wide Policies   

6.1.28 GP1: Sustainability and High-Quality Design 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact on the appearance of the built environment. A more permissive 

planning regime can however assist in countering instances of vacant units and dead 

spaces with a view to enabling a more vibrant street scene with active frontages.  

6.1.29 GP3: Planning Obligations  

Expected impact of LDO: Permitted uses will not be required to make financial 

contributions through current planning obligation provisions. Developments may however 

make a voluntary contribution as appropriate. However, any future implementation of a 

CIL charging regime may result in a requirement for contributions to be sought.  

6.1.30 GP4: Infrastructure and New Development  

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; therefore, it 

will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is accompanied 

by appropriate evidence.  

6.1.31 RT1:  Retailing Hierarchy        

Tudalen 127



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
22 

Expected impact of LDO: The LDO will be consistent with the aim of protecting and 

enhancing the role of Carmarthen as a principal centre. It is recognised within this 

statement of reasons and as supported by evidence that Carmarthen Town Centre 

currently exhibits signs of decline as a result of Covid-19.  It is considered at this point 

that the Town Centre requires specific consideration and policy intervention to address 

this decline and to meet the Welsh Government response in relation to the future of town 

centres. It is hoped that a more permissive planning regime will help ensure its continued 

attractiveness as a destination with a strong retail offer. 

6.1.32 RT2: Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Primary Retail Frontage  

Expected impact of LDO: The policy is intended to resist any further over-concentration 

of non-retail (non A1) uses in the Primary Retail Frontages.  The Primary Retail Frontage 

confirms that the principle function should be retail. The policy also states that proposals 

involving the change of use and / or re-development of a ground floor frontage to 

residential are not considered compatible with a ‘town centre’ location. Reference is 

however made to Section 3 of this Statement of Reasons (Policy Justification). 

Furthermore, paragraph 6.4.3 of the LDP written statement states that: “Whilst shopping 

will be expected to continue as the principal activity in town centres, it is only one of the 

factors which contribute to their wellbeing.  It is evident that retail policies cannot be 

divorced from the broader functions of the larger towns as centres for other services and 

facilities, including food and drink establishments (cafes, restaurants, public houses, etc.) 

and commercial leisure developments.  A diversity of uses in town centres assists in 

promoting their continued viability and, particularly with regard to leisure uses, contributes 

to the vitality of a successful evening economy”.  This is particularly pertinent in respect 

of Carmarthen Town Centre with the challenges currently being exhibited. Paragraph 

6.4.19 of the LDP written statement outlines that: “As part of the monitoring and review 

process, the Council will undertake an annual survey of uses within the identified town 

Tudalen 128



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
23 

centres including the Primary Retail Frontages.  The survey will not only look at the nature 

of occupants but also the levels of vacancy which may occur.  The survey together with 

future updates of the retail study will inform policy updates and supplementary guidance 

emerging from any changes in town centre conditions.” In this respect, the 2020 

Carmarthenshire Town Centre Audit highlights the challenges in relation to vacancy etc 

particularly in relation to the September 2020 update, being exhibited within certain parts 

of the Town Centre. The introduction of the LDO will mean that the potential conflict 

between the LPA and a proponent of non-A1 use within Carmarthen Town Centre will be 

removed, subject to the proposal meeting the requirements of the LDO. It should be noted 

that the LDO does not permit changes of use of ground floor units to residential. It is also 

recognised that the designation of the LDO reflects the emphasis within Planning Policy 

Wales on the future of town centres. 

6.1.33 RT3: Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Secondary Retail Frontage  

Expected impact of LDO: Whilst the policy recognises the importance of a strong retail 

element and seeks to control the extent of non-retail uses to protect the general retail 

character of central streets and maintain continuity of shopping frontages, it does also 

acknowledge the contribution that a complementary retail, leisure and business offer can 

make in increasing the overall attractiveness of the town centre.  The introduction of the 

LDO will mean that the requirement to provide a policy justification and/or challenging the 

LPA’s position within the planning application process will not be required as the process 

would be streamlined and simplified.  

6.1.34 RT4:  Principal Centres (Growth Areas): Town Centre Zone   

Expected impact of LDO: The policy creates opportunities for the introduction of beneficial 

economic commercial uses to properties which may otherwise become rundown or 

vacant.  It permits the change of use or redevelopment of shops to other appropriate town 

Tudalen 129



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
24 

centre uses within these areas. In this regard, it demonstrates synergy to the objectives 

of the LDO within the context of Carmarthen Town Centre. It should be noted that the 

LDO does not impact upon those areas covered by this policy. 

6.1.35 EP1: Water Quality and Resources, EP2: Pollution and EP3: Sustainable Drainage 

6.1.35.1 Expected impact of LDO: The LDO does not permit any building operations; 

therefore, it will have no impact. In relation to supply and treatment of water, the LDO is 

supported by appropriate evidence  

6.1.35.2 In relation to surface water, those units within the LDO Area are already linked 

to the sewer/surface water system. 

6.1.35.3 Reference should be made to the Procedural Notification process which will 

ensure that relevant parties (e.g. Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water) 

are informed of certificates of conformity issued. 

  

Tudalen 130



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
25 

7.0 Conditions  

Please refer to the LDO itself – section 4 

 

Tudalen 131



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
26 

8.0 Notes  

Refer to the LDO itself – section 5 

  

Tudalen 132



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
27 

9.0 Compliance  

Refer to the LDO itself – section 6. 

  

Tudalen 133



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
28 

10.0 Results and monitoring  

10.1 In addition to reviewing applications for Certificates of Conformity, Carmarthenshire 

County Council will monitor vacancy levels in ground-floor units and footfall. The findings 

of such research will be presented in annual monitoring reports as part of the statutory 

LDP Monitoring Process. Consideration is also being given to introducing a periodic 

monitoring regime within the Town Centre.  

  

Tudalen 134



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
29 

11.0 Planning contributions/Community Infrastructure Levy  

11.1 In order to alleviate the impact of development on local services and facilities, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and/or voluntary contributions may be sought in 

accordance with current Council procedures.  

  

Tudalen 135



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
30 

12.0 Risk Assessment  

12.1 The below sets out some of the key issues that are considered to be worthy of 

review:  

 

 Democratic control and the role of Elected Members and the Community; 

 Officer workload, particularly in terms of monitoring and compliance; 

 How would bodies that are ordinarily be notified/consulted through the planning 

application process be engaged?; 

 Loss of Planning application fees; 

 Planning Obligations; 

 Legal and Financial matters arising from any future LDO revocation; 

 Residential amenity; 

 The integrity of the historic environment; 

 Parking; 

 Regulatory matters;  

 Flood Risk. 

 

12.2 It is considered that the LDO may ultimately reduce workload in development 

management, cutting out routine work within the defined LDO area. Furthermore, in 

relation to monitoring, there are established mechanisms available and a data capture 

system has been set up by the Data Management Officer within Planning Services.  

 

12.3 A notification system whereby key consultees (e.g. Town/Rural Councils, Dwr Cymru 

or Natural Resources Wales) are informed of LDO proposals has been established by the 

Council.  This reflects the fact that such bodies would ordinarily be notified/consulted 

through the planning application process. 

Tudalen 136



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
31 

 

12.4 Any LDOs will result in a reduced income from planning applications fees, as 

developers only need to submit a pre-notification, for which they pay the Council a 

nominal fee for administrative purposes.  It is considered however that the scope and 

extent of the impact would be potentially minor in income terms (based on the potential 

number of applications likely to be received).  Whilst not quantifiable the impact in income 

terms will be negated through regeneration benefits within the town centre.  

 

12.5 It should be noted that as part of the democratic reporting process, the Council has 

been afforded the opportunity to review a range of pertinent considerations, particularly 

in terms of resource and legal implications.  

 

12.6 An LDO may be revoked or revised at any time by the LPA on its own initiative. The 

Welsh Government also has reserve powers to direct an LPA to revoke an LDO or 

prepare a revision of it.  Where an LPA revokes an LDO the authority must:-  

 

  Publish on their website a statement that the LDO has been revoked  

  Give notice of the revocation by local advertisement.  This is a requirement to 

publish the notice in as many newspapers as necessary to secure that the press 

coverage (taken as a whole) extends to the whole of the area to which the LDO 

relates, and  

  Give written notice of the revocation to every person whom the authority consulted 

before the making of the order.   

 

12.7 Section 189 of the Planning Act 2008 amends Sections 107 and 108 of Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, which provide for compensation where a development order 

Tudalen 137



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
32 

or local development order is withdrawn.  In summary, where planning permission granted 

by a LDO is withdrawn, there will be no entitlement to compensation where notice of the 

withdrawal is published not less than 12 months or more than the prescribed period (24 

months) before the withdrawal takes effect.  

 

12.8 If development is started before the notice is published, compensation will be 

available unless the order in question contains provision permitting the completion of 

development.  The reform may therefore offer LPAs reassurance, through providing 

additional flexibility when considering the revision or withdrawal of LDO permissions, 

although the Welsh Government considers that an LPA would only rarely need to do this 

where the merits and effect of an LDO have been properly considered during its 

preparation. 

12.9 Residential amenity is an important consideration because there are already 

people residing within the LDO area. There are separate legislative frameworks that seek 

to can control various threats to residential amenity, including noise and odour.  

12.10 In relation to parking, the Town Centre is well served by public transport and 

pedestrian networks; therefore, it is considered unlikely that the LDO will substantially 

increase demand for off- and on-street parking. Occupants of new dwellings will not be 

entitled to parking permits.  

12.11  The LDO does not allow developers to display advertisements on, or make 

external alterations to, any building in the town centre. In order to ensure the continuing 

protection of the built heritage, development which would affect a listed building is also 

excluded from the scope of LDOs. In view of this, it is felt that the LDO will preserve the 

special character and appearance of listed buildings and the Conservation Area.  

 

Tudalen 138



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
33 

12.12 In relation to flooding, the LDO area is not impacted upon by C1 or C2 flood zones, 

consequently there are no impacts in relation to Highly Vulnerable Developments (HVD).  

HVD includes all residential premises (use classes C1 and C3), public buildings (often 

use class D1) and, in some cases, leisure-related businesses (use class D2).  

 

12.13 In regulatory terms, the LDO has been screened under the Environmental Impact 

Assessment Regulations, and it is considered that an Environmental Statement is not 

required. A Test of Likely Significant Effect (TLSE) for the purposes of the Habitats 

Regulations has concluded that the LDO will have no significant effect (alone or in 

combination) with a European Site or a European Offshore Marine Site. The LDO has 

also been screened as part of the Equalities Impact Assessment process. The LDO does 

not require its own Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA-

SEA) because the LDO is deemed to be an elaboration upon the provisions of the 

Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006 — 2021(Adopted December 2014). The 

LDP has already been subject to SA-SEA along with a Plan level Habitats Regulations 

Assessment.  

Tudalen 139



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
34 

13.0 Plan of the LDO Area  

As per appendix to this report    

Tudalen 140



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
35 

14.0 Plan of Listed Buildings and Conservation Area 

As per appendix to this report    

Tudalen 141



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
36 

15.0 Development Advice Maps (TANs) – for LDO Area 

As per appendix to this report    

Tudalen 142



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
37 

Notes  

i) The above plan is based on the Development Advice Maps (DAMs) October 2020.  

ii) The DAMs are reviewed periodically and therefore may change during the lifetime of 

the LDO. Reference should be made to Natural Resources Wales’ website in this regard. 

  

Tudalen 143



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
38 

16.0 Key Contacts 

Refer to section 11 of the LDO.  

Tudalen 144



Carmarthen Town Centre Draft Local Development Order:  
Statement of Reasons — Version for Reporting November 2020 

 
39 

ANNEX 

Notification Procedure  

The LDO process is subject to a notification procedure where key stakeholders are 

advised of applications. This ensures that “mitigation” is built into the LDO process 

given the strong emphasis on collaboration / engagement and monitoring. 

Those notification stakeholders can include: 

 Carmarthen Town Council; 

 Elected Members for Carmarthen Wards;  

 Carmarthen Business Improvement District;  

 Natural Resources Wales; 

 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water; 

 Western Power National grid (plant protection); 

 Wales and West Utilities;  

 Development Management (Planning) Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Licensing Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Building Regulations Carmarthenshire County Council; 

 Environmental Health Carmarthenshire County Council. 

 Highways & Planning Liaison Officer – Carmarthenshire County Council. 

 

Tudalen 145



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

Dydd Llun, 2 Tachwedd 2020 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
E. Dole, C.A. Campbell, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-
Griffiths, D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a/ac J. Tremlett 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr: D.M. Cundy 
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
G. Morgan, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol 
M. Evans Thomas, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
R. Lloyd, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Siambr, Neuadd y Sir - 10.00  - 10.20 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB. 

 
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL. 
 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 19EG HYDREF 2020 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 19 Hydref, 2020 gan eu bod yn gywir. 
 
 

4. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

Tudalen 147

Eitem Rhif  6.1



 

 
 

5. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

6. GORCHMYNION DATBLYGU LLEOL CANOL TREF CAERFYRDDIN A 
CHANOL TREF RHYDAMAN 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ar gynigion i gyflwyno Gorchmynion 
Datblygu Lleol ar gyfer Canol Tref Caerfyrddin a Chanol Tref Rhydaman. Roedd yr 
adroddiad yn manylu ar y rôl bosibl y gallai Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol ei 
chwarae fel rhan o gynigion adfywio ehangach yng nghyd-destun Canol y Dref, yn 
enwedig o ran Caerfyrddin a Rhydaman wrth gefnogi'r Fenter Lleoedd Llewyrchus 
a sicrhau eu bod yn gallu gwrthsefyll effeithiau economaidd COVID-19. Roedd y 
cynigion hefyd yn rhoi sylw dyledus i Gynllun Adfer Corfforaethol y Cyngor a 
Chanllawiau Cynllunio Llywodraeth Cymru – 'Adeiladu Lleoedd Gwell’. 
 
Nodwyd bod Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol yn rhoi cyfle i Awdurdod Cynllunio Lleol 
symleiddio'r broses gynllunio drwy ddileu'r angen i ddatblygwyr/ymgeiswyr 
gyflwyno cais cynllunio i'r Awdurdod ac i gyflwyno cynigion datblygu fel cais am 
Orchymyn Datblygu Lleol, gan ganiatáu i awdurdod weithredu'n rhagweithiol mewn 
ymateb i amgylchiadau lleol penodol yn ei ardal ddaearyddol. 
 
Cyfeiriwyd at y cynnig i gynnwys rhan isaf Heol Awst, Caerfyrddin yn rhan o'r 
Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol ar gyfer Canol Tref Caerfyrddin. Mynegwyd barn y dylid 
cynnwys y stryd honno yn ei chyfanrwydd yn y cynnig drafft a bod argymhelliad i'r 
perwyl hwnnw'n cael ei wneud i'r Cyngor. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR:- 
 
6.1 Bod cwmpas y Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol arfaethedig yn cael 

ei gymeradwyo i'w ystyried drwy gyfrwng y broses adrodd 
ddemocrataidd; 

6.2 Bod y Gorchmynion Datblygu Lleol yn cael eu paratoi ar gyfer 
y trefi perthnasol gan gynnwys cynnal ymgynghoriadau ffurfiol 
fel y bo'n briodol ac adrodd ymhellach ar eu cwmpas, eu 
cynnwys a'u graddau daearyddol arfaethedig;  

6.3 Cymeradwyo cyhoeddi'r Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol terfynol ar 
gyfer ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus am gyfnod o 6 wythnos o leiaf; 

6.4 Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion baratoi tystiolaeth i 
gefnogi'r Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol; 

6.5 Rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion wneud mân 
newidiadau golygyddol a ffeithiol; 

6.6 Diwygio'r cynllun ar gyfer Gorchymyn Datblygu Lleol Canol 
Tref Caerfyrddin i gynnwys Heol Awst, Caerfyrddin yn ei 
chyfanrwydd. 

 
 

7. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o ran materion brys. 

Tudalen 148



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 149



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

 
BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 

 
16 TACHWEDD 2020 

 
YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
C.A. Campbell, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-Griffiths, 
D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a J. Tremlett. 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr: D.M. Cundy. 
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr; 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol; 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant; 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd; 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith; 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad); 
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata; 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd; 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol; 
R. Lloyd, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
J. Corner, Swyddog Technegol; 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
 
Rhith-Gyfarfod: - 10:00yb - 10:40yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB. 

 
Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd Linda Davies Evans - yr 
Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Dai a Mr Jake Morgan - y Cyfarwyddwr Cymunedau. 
 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL. 
 

Cynghorydd  Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

Y Cynghorydd 
Cefin Campbell 

6 - Polisi Codi Tâl Mynediad i 

Gefn Gwlad – Celfi Llwybrau 

Cyhoeddus 

Mae llwybr troed cyhoeddus 

yn mynd drwy dir y mae'n 

berchen arno. 

 
3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y BWRDD 

GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 2AIL TACHWEDD, 2020 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar 2 Tachwedd, 2020 yn gofnod cywir. 

Tudalen 151

Eitem Rhif  6.2



 

 
 

 
4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 

 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

6. POLISI CODI TÂL MYNEDIAD I GEFN GWLAD - CELFI LLWYBR CYHOEDDUS 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi manylion polisi codi tâl a 
ddatblygwyd gan y gwasanaeth Mynediad i Gefn Gwlad i gyflwyno dull o adennill 
cyfran o'r gwariant presennol sydd ynghlwm wrth gyflenwi a gosod celfi llwybrau 
cyhoeddus ar ran tirfeddianwyr. 
 
Nododd yr adroddiad fod Adran 146 o Ddeddf Priffyrdd 1980 yn ei gwneud yn 
ofynnol i'r tirfeddiannwr gynnal a chadw unrhyw gamfa neu gât ar draws llwybr 
troed, llwybr ceffylau, neu gilffordd gyfyngedig. 
 
Nododd y Bwrdd fod y polisi arfaethedig wedi'i ystyried yn ofalus i gyflwyno lefel 
briodol a theg o adennill costau ar gyfer cyflenwi a gosod celfi gan yr Awdurdod yn 
ogystal â ffurfioli consesiynau mewn rhai amgylchiadau.  Roedd y polisi hefyd yn 
darparu cyfres glir o reolau ar gyfer darparu celfi a fyddai'n rhoi gwybod i 
dirfeddianwyr am eu cyfrifoldebau statudol ac yn cynorthwyo staff Mynediad i Gefn 
Gwlad i gynnig cymorth cyson, teg a rhesymol i dirfeddiannwr. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo mabwysiadu Polisi Codi Tâl 
ar gyfer cyflenwi a gosod celfi llwybrau cyhoeddus ar draws y rhwydwaith 
hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus. 
 

7. EGLWYS GYMUNEDOL TYWI – BOWLIO XCEL 
 
Bu'r Bwrdd yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn cynnig cefnogi cais a gyflwynwyd gan 
Ganolfan Bowlio Xcel a changhennau elusennol Eglwys Gymunedol Tywi i'w 
galluogi i barhau i ddarparu'r gwasanaethau a ddarperir i drigolion Sir Gaerfyrddin 
ac ardaloedd cyfagos.  Roedd yr adroddiad yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol i sicrhau bod ymrwymiad cyllid ar gael fel grant, er mwyn sicrhau 
cynaliadwyedd ariannol tymor hwy Bowlio Xcel a phrosiectau cysylltiedig. 
 
Cydnabu'r Bwrdd fod Bowlio Xcel a phrosiectau cysylltiedig yn darparu prosiectau 
hanfodol gan gynnwys Banc Bwyd, Siop Gymunedol ac Ailgylchu Celfi a'i bod wedi 
gweithio gyda mwy na 50 o asiantaethau atgyfeirio gweithredol yng Nghaerfyrddin 
a'r cyffiniau, gan gynnwys y Cyngor, i ddiwallu anghenion teuluoedd difreintiedig.   
 
Cydnabu'r Bwrdd y byddai pandemig Covid-19 a'r cyfyngiadau symud cysylltiedig 
wedi cael effaith sylweddol ar lawer o brosiectau eraill ac awgrymodd y byddai'n 
ddoeth llunio meini prawf i baratoi ar gyfer ceisiadau am gymorth yn y dyfodol. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 152



 

 
 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL GYMERADWYO: 
 
7.1 ymrwymo swm o £50,000 i Eglwys Gymunedol Tywi i gefnogi Bowlio Xcel 

a phrosiectau cysylltiedig gan ganiatáu iddynt barhau i fasnachu.  
Byddai hyn yn cael ei ariannu o gronfeydd wrth gefn adrannol.  Byddai'r 
cyllid yn cael ei roi fel grant i'w dynnu yn ôl y gofyn; 
 

7.2 pe bai angen arian ychwanegol ar Eglwys Gymunedol Tywi i gefnogi ei 
gweithrediad parhaus, byddai cynyddu ei benthyciad presennol hyd at 
£50,000 yn cael ei ganiatáu. 

 
8. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB REFENIW Y CYNGOR 

 

Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb refeniw a oedd yn 
rhoi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa gyllidebol fel yr oedd ar 31 Awst 2020, 
o ran 2020/2021.  Roedd y sefyllfa gyllidebol yn cydnabod y pwysau ychwanegol 
sylweddol a roddwyd ar yr Awdurdod wrth ymateb i bandemig Covid-19.   

 

Yn gyffredinol, roedd yr adroddiad yn rhagweld y byddai gorwariant diwedd 
blwyddyn o £3,971k ar gyllideb refeniw net yr Awdurdod ac y byddai gorwariant o 
£4,971k ar lefel adrannol.   Nododd y Bwrdd Gweithredol fod y sefyllfa na welwyd 
ei thebyg o'r blaen yn deillio o gyfuniad o gostau ychwanegol na ellid eu hadennill 
o ganlyniad i weithgarwch Covid-19, incwm a ildiwyd o ran gwasanaethau a oedd 
wedi cau yn ystod y cyfyngiadau symud cenedlaethol ac a oedd yn parhau i gael 
llai o refeniw, na chaiff ei ad-dalu'n llawn o bosibl gan Lywodraeth Cymru, a 
chynigion arbedion arfaethedig nad ydynt wedi'u cyflawni oherwydd y pandemig. 

 
Cadarnhaodd yr adroddiad fod yr Awdurdod yn cyflwyno hawliad caledi misol i 
Lywodraeth Cymru am wariant Covid-19 ychwanegol.  Roedd y rhan fwyaf o'r 
costau'n cael eu had-dalu, er bod rhai yn cael eu hystyried yn anghymwys, yn 
benodol mewn cysylltiad â phenderfyniadau lleol. 

Yng ngoleuni'r gorwariant sylweddol a ragwelwyd ar lefel adrannol, gofynnwyd i 
Brif Swyddogion a Phenaethiaid Gwasanaeth adolygu'r opsiynau a oedd ar gael 
iddynt yn feirniadol i gyfyngu ar y gorwariant a ragwelwyd ar gyllidebau, yn ogystal 
â chydnabod y pwysau yr oedd Covid-19 wedi'u rhoi ar gyllideb gyffredinol yr 
Awdurdod. 

Mewn ymateb i ymholiad, cadarnhaodd yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol dros 
Adnoddau fod Llywodraeth Cymru wrthi'n ymateb ar hyn o bryd i fynd i'r afael â'r 
materion sy'n codi yn y sectorau hamdden, diwylliant a theatr. 

Diolchodd y Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ddiffuant i staff adran y Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol am addasu i'r ffordd newydd o weithio drwy'r pandemig a'u holl waith 
caled wrth baratoi cyllid a rheoli gwariant y Cyngor. 

Tudalen 153



 

 
 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 

8.1 Derbyn adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb, a rhoi ystyriaeth i'r sefyllfa 
gyllidebol a'r camau unioni priodol.  

8.2      Bod y Prif Swyddogion a'r Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn adolygu'r 
opsiynau sydd ar gael iddynt yn feirniadol i gyfyngu ar y gorwariant a 
ragwelwyd ar gyllidebau, yn ogystal â chydnabod y pwysau y mae 
Covid-19 wedi'u rhoi ar gyllideb gyffredinol yr Awdurdod. 

 
9. DIWEDDARU RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2020-21 

 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi'r wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf o ran y sefyllfa gyllidebol ddiweddaraf ar gyfer rhaglen gyfalaf 
2020/21 fel yr oedd ar 31 Awst, 2020, ac yn nodi cyfres o drosglwyddiadau y 
gofynnwyd i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol eu cymeradwyo.   
 
Yn adrannol, dywedwyd y rhagwelwyd gwariant net o £63,428k o gymharu â 
chyllideb net weithredol o £114,264k gan roi -£50,836k o amrywiant.  
 
Tynnodd yr adroddiad sylw at y cynlluniau ychwanegol canlynol, a oedd wedi cael cyllid 
uniongyrchol, i'r Rhaglen Gyfalaf:- 

 Tai Preifat; 
 Dechrau'n Deg; 
 Amgueddfa'r Sir; 
 Dwyrain Cross Hands – Llain 3 a  
 Re-fit Cymru. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
 
9.1 Derbyn adroddiad diweddaru'r rhaglen gyfalaf.  
9.2 Cymeradwyo'r trosglwyddiadau y manylir arnynt yn yr adroddiad.  
 
 

10. UNRHYW FATER ARALL 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau o ran materion brys. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 
 

Tudalen 154



 

 
 

BWRDD GWEITHREDOL 
 

Dydd Llun, 23 Tachwedd 2020 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd); 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
E. Dole, C.A. Campbell, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-
Griffiths, D.M. Jenkins, L.M. Stephens a J. Tremlett; 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr: D.M. Cundy; 
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr; 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau; 
R. Mullen, Cyfarwyddwr yr Amgylchedd; 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant; 
R. Hemingway, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol; 
S. Pilliner, Pennaeth Priffyrdd a Thrafnidiaeth; 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith; 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad); 
D. Hockenhull, Rheolwr y Cyfryngau a Marchnata; 
G. Morgan, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
J. Corner, Swyddog Technegol; 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd; 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
 
Rhith-Gyfarfod: 4.00 yp  - 4.30 yp 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb. 
 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw fuddiannau personol. 
 

3. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

4. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

5. YMESTYN DIWRNODAU PARCIO AM DDIM I FIS RHAGFYR 2020 
Bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad ar gynigion i ganiatáu i ddiwrnodau 
parcio am ddim gael eu cymryd ym mis Rhagfyr 2020 fel eithriad er mwyn cefnogi 
adferiad economaidd y trefi yn ystod pandemig Covid-19. 
 
Roedd polisi cyfredol y Cyngor yn cynnig pum diwrnod parcio am ddim bob 
blwyddyn i gefnogi canol trefi ond nid oedd yn cynnwys cyfnod masnachu mis 

Tudalen 155

Eitem Rhif  6.3



 

 
 

Rhagfyr. Roedd rhai canol trefi wedi cysylltu â'r Cyngor i ofyn i fis Rhagfyr gael ei 
gynnwys yn y cynnig eleni oherwydd yr amgylchiadau eithriadol a achoswyd gan 
bandemig COVID19. Roedd y Cyngor wedi cefnogi canol trefi gyda pharcio am 
ddim o fis Mawrth i fis Medi eleni a pharhad y cynlluniau peilot i barcio am ddim 
sydd ar waith ym mhob tref. Byddai'r cais diweddaraf yn helpu i ddarparu cymorth 
pellach ar yr adeg anodd hon. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL i gymeradwyo ymestyn parcio am ddim 
ym mis Rhagfyr yn ystod 2020 yn unig. 
 

6. TALIAD BRYS DROS DRO I STAFF GOFAL (I GEFNOGI STAFFIO MEWN 
CARTREFI GOFAL PREIFAT) 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd, yn unol ag Adran 100B(4)(b) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 
1972, ei fod wedi penderfynu caniatáu i'r eitem ganlynol gael ei hystyried yn fater 
brys yn y cyfarfod hwn gan fod angen gweithredu cyn cyfarfod nesaf y Bwrdd. 
Roedd yr adroddiad wedi'i gynnwys ar Agenda ddiwygiedig a gyhoeddwyd cyn y 
cyfarfod. 
Yn unol â hyn, bu'r Bwrdd Gweithredol yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn gofyn am 
awdurdod i roi trefniant ar waith i weithredu taliad brys dros dro i gefnogi cartrefi 
gofal preifat a oedd yn wynebu prinder staff ar fyr rybudd o ganlyniad i'r pandemig 
COVID 19. Byddai'r taliad brys yn berthnasol dim ond pan fyddai achosion 
penodol lle roedd cyflenwad staffio mewn cartrefi Gofal Preifat yn cael ei beryglu 
oherwydd hunanynsyu statudol a chanlyniadau positif o ran Covid19 ymhlith staff 
cartrefi gofal preifat, lle nad oes digon o staff i ddarparu gofal. Eglurwyd bod 
portffolios Aelodau'r Bwrdd Gweithredol wedi'u gosod yn anfwriadol wrth ymyl yr 
Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol anghywir ac y dylai'r cyfeiriad yn yr adroddiad at 
'gyfalaf ICF'  gyfeirio at 'refeniw ICF’ yn lle hynny.  
 
Nodwyd na fyddai unrhyw gost ychwanegol i'r Awdurdod, gan y byddai'r rhain yn 
cael eu hawlio'n llawn o'r cartref Gofal Preifat perthnasol yr oedd angen cymorth 
arno. Croesawodd yr Aelodau'r adroddiad ac unwaith eto talwyd teyrnged i holl 
staff y cartref gofal. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo'r trefniant o ran taliad brys 
dros dro i staff cartrefi gofal i gefnogi cartrefi gofal preifat sy'n wynebu 
prinder staff ar fyr rybudd o ganlyniad i'r pandemig COVID 19. 
 

7. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o ran materion brys. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 156


	Agenda
	4 LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNOD CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR 11 TACHWEDD 2020
	5.1 GORCHMYNION DATBLYGU LLEOL CANOL TREF CAERFYRDDIN A CHANOL TREF RHYDAMAN
	Appendix 1 Report - LDO (Carms - Ammanford)
	Ammanford LDO
	Ammanford Town Centre LDO Maps Combined
	Statement of Reasons Ammanford LDO
	Carmarthen LDO
	Carmarthen Town Centre LDO Maps Combined
	Statement of Reasons Carmarthen LDO

	6.1 2AIL TACHWEDD 2020
	6.2 16EG TACHWEDD 2020
	6.3 23AIN TACHWEDD 2020

